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Prologue
March 15, 1942

Wilford Igoe Jr. wrapped hisfingers around the pumpkin-shaped rock, stedled himsdlf with a deep
breath, and pushed with al his strength. Therock did back ahaf inch, accompanied by the sound of
stone on stone. He held his breeth, waiting, listening for further grinding sounds, for the sound of settling
rocks—the sounds of certain degth.

But no sounds came. He let his breath out in along sigh of relieved tenson. No point in relaxing, hetold
himsdf, I'm just going to have to go through it a dozen more times until | clear this rock.

"Just alittle more, Will,” said hisfriend Samuel, who stood behind him in the cramped cave, watching for
any sgnsof settling. Will could only grunt in response. Thelight from Samue's mining hemet jittered from
sdeto sde, up and down, bouncing dl over the rough gray rock that filled Will's hands. Will'sown
helmet lay behind him and to the right—he'd had to take it off to squeeze into the narrow crawl space
among the cluster of ancient boulders.

The headlamps' illumination wasthe first light this pitch-black place had known in decades, possibly
centuries. Sunlight had never graced theinterior of the cave; they weretoo far into the zone of perpetua
darkness.

"Stop moving that damn light, Samud,” Will said, grunting out thewords. “1f | move thisrock the wrong
way wedl die” Samud'slight stopped bouncing, but only for amoment, then began flittering about
again, following the excited movements of his head.

Will fought down hisirritation and tried to concentrate, which wasn't easy considering his position. He
was wedged into the crawl space that he and Samuel and Douglas had made during the last three days.
The space was part of amuch larger tunnel that led steadily down into the mountain. Will's head was a
the low end of that incline, hisbody lying in powdery cave silt. It felt like going down adide headfirst,
athough he wasn't actualy moving, especidly if he couldn't budge that boulder.

But removing the rock wasn't the red problem. He had to move it right, he had to moveit just so. The
boulders surrounding him were remnants of an ancient cave-in. Y ou couldn't tell how these rocks settled
againgt one another. Move out a“linchpin® rock, eveniif it was atiny one, and sudden settling would
crush anything lying below.

"Comeon Will,” Samudl said. His excited voice rang off the dead tonewadlls. “Try alittleto the left.”

"Up yours, Anderson,” Will said. He wrestled with the chunk of limestone, histhick arms shaking with a
combination of concerted effort and exhaustion.

Thousands of years ago this passage had housed a swiftly churning underground river. Now all that
remained of the ancient stream was the tunnel itself and afloor of bone-dry silt, two inchesthick and as
fine as high-grade flour. That same silt coated Will's swesty skin.

Swest dripped from hisface, the inverted position making it seem asif it ran up hisneck, up his cheeks
and into his gtinging eyes. Will heard his own labored breathing as he wrestled with the rock, which had
aready split open two of hisknuckles. His bresth sounded loud—not because of the claustrophobically
confined space, but because there were no background sounds. A hundred yards into the cave and al
sound ceased. Not even the insects made noise, athough that far down the insects were strange



indeed—blind crickets with fragile antenna twice aslong astheir body, tiny beetlesthat burrowed
ceasdesdy into the sand, and ghostly-white, long-legged spidersthat had never felt the faintest trickle of
un.

"Sam, keep that fucking light till!” To Sam, the opportunity to take the cave deep into the mountain's
layers—to trave into the mountain asif they were ablood cdll in the circulatory system of the very stone
itself—was like heaven on Earth. Sam couldn't wait to get through this cave-in and continue exploring the
tunnd. Will wanted to know what lay beyond aswell, but for the moment he didn't give agood goddamn
about the tunnel or geology or the fact that he had to pisslike aracehorse. Hisworld narrowed to his
hands, his arms, and the damn stubborn pumpkin-shaped boulder streaked with his blood.

"Try alittleto theleft, Will,” Samuel said again.

"Y eah, thanksfor thetip, Eingtein,” Will said. But for lack of a better idea, he pushed it hard to the
left—and it did agood two inches.

"Oh shoot!” Samud sad. “Holy moley, itsmoving!"

"l think I'vedmosgt got it,” Will said, grunting and panting. He had it now. Oh, it wanted to fight him, but it
wastoo late, he had that bastard of arock and he wasn't letting go.

Will felt the thud of footsteps gpproaching from up the tunnel. Douglas Nadia moved with dl the grace of
adrunken e ephant. Will always wondered how someone so thin could make so much noise.

"Where have you been, Douglas?’ Samuel asked. “Weve been working on this boulder for the last
twenty minutes”

"What do you mean we?’ Will said. He pushed, and with each fractiona movement he listened for the
sounds of settling rock, but nothing moved except the pumpkin-shaped boulder.

"l did alittle chisdling back up at the plateau,” Douglas said. Histhick Texan drawl betrayed his
excitement.

Samud sounded immensdly annoyed. “ Douglas, please tell me you didn't carve your name on the tunnel
mouth.”

"Hell no. | carved dl our names. Hey, you think well find any more cave drawings, or maybe another
goofy knifelikelast time?!

"Who cares about that?” Samuel asked. “ Once we're through, and if thistunnel continuesto descend, |
surmisewell drop below the next sedimentary layer within fifty feet or so. That will give usared good
look at this mountain's composition.”

"Y ou crack me up, Anderson,” Douglas said, his sharp laugh bouncing off the rough, narrow walls.
“Weve found somelost Injun tribe in here, maybe even with buried treasure, and al you can think of is
geology. Youreascrewbal.”

The two continued to babble, but Will tuned them out. The rock wasthe last obstacle that stood between
them and continued exploration. They'd found the opening while researching Samud's Ph.D. thesis. The
Wah Wah Mountains were only athree-hour drive from Brigham Y oung University, and yet wereawild
and obscure treasure of geological wonders. The thick limestone mountains seemed to rise straight out of
southwestern Utah's scrub-brush deserts.

Five months earlier, they'd been athousand feet up the sde of an unnamed peak when they discovered a



small plateau and adark, cramped opening. The opening led into along, dender tunnel that traveled well
over one hundred yards into the mountain before dead-ending at the ancient cave-in. Low on supplies,
they'd decided to head home and try again later.

Now, well supplied and eager to explore the caves, they had to clear a path through the cumbersome
bouldersto access the tunnel they knew lay beyond. For three days they'd probed the cave-in, placing
small charges of dynamite to help break up the tightly packed rocks. Following each blast, they labored
to clear loose stones. It had been three days of noisy, backbreaking work, but the intensive effort was all
but forgotten as Will dowly worried the last stone clear.

That sone finaly cameloose with ahorrible, grinding sound of protest. AsWill pushed it free, they held
their collective breaths, waiting for the suspended rockfdl to give way and crush them al.

Nothing happened.
"Takethat,” Will said, hisvoice an exhausted whisper. “ Take that, you piece of shit.”
"Quit cursing,” Samud said. “Hurry up and get out of there, will you?"

Will wanted to squeeze out of the opening, Sit up, and wring Samuel's neck, but he didn't have the
strength. Samuel and Douglas each took an ankle and pulled, hauling Will out like adead animd.

Samud rushed to the opening, laying flat and letting hislight probe the newfound depths.
"How'sit look?’ Douglas asked, leaning on Samuel's shoulder and craning his head for a peek.

Samud's exuberant yel| peded off the sonewall, accompanied by the hint of an echo from the
unexplored passage beyond. “Lookslike astraight shot! Asfar as| can see—at least another fifty
yardd"

Samue whooped triumphantly. Douglass Texan yep joined in. Will lay flat on his back, ssomach
heaving, swesat pooling in sandy little lumps on the cavefloor.

Douglas dapped a Will'sthigh, “ Get up, lazybones. Lookit Samue—hesdready crawling in.”

Will remained on his back, breathing deeply, but turned his head to see Samud's skinny body wiggle
through the narrow opening. Will thought it looked like the rocks were a giant stone mouth with pursed
lips, and Samud was a piece of durped spaghetti.

"Y ou go on ahead,” Will said.
Douglas again whacked Will's thigh. “ Get up, rich boy."
With effort, Will lifted himself to one ebow. “Doug, you hit me again and | swear I'll—"

"Fellas,” Samud interrupted. Both Douglas and Will jumped dightly as Samud's head suddenly
reappeared in the narrow opening. “Did you hear that?"

"Hear what?’ Douglas and Will said together.

"That sound,” Samud said. A lock of histhin blond hair fell free from under hishemet, dangling on his
high forehead. Only his head and handswere visible. In the poor lighting, helooked like atalking
guillotine victim perched on awall of tan and red boulders.

"Sounded like sand blowing across the desert or something like that,” Samuel said. “ Didn't you hear it?"



"Didn't hear athing,” Douglas said. Will smply fdl to hisback again, staring back down the pitch-black
tunnd, ignoring the overexuberant Samuel. Sometimes he hated that kid's nonstop energy.

"Maybe there's a connecting tunnel down here and therés some air circulation,” Samud said quietly.
“Oh, forget it. Comeon, fellas, let's see where thisthing leads.”

"| think rich boy isstaying here,” Douglas said, aming adap a Will'sthigh but pulling back at the last
second, avoiding contact.

Will said nothing, merdly raised his hand, extended his middle finger, and | et the hand whump heavily
back into dry silt.

Samud's head disappeared into the dark hole. Douglas laughed and followed him headfirst into the
mouth, working hisway into the confined opening.

Will lay motionless, eyes closed, listening to hisfriends' excited laughter fade into nothingness. Hed catch
up to the goldbrickers in amoment, he just needed to rest. The cave was so peaceful, so sill. Hed just
close hiseyesfor afew minutes, just relax in the motionless, timeless caverns. Just a catnap, perhaps, and
then—

His eyesflew open, yet he remained deathly ill. Hed heard the faintest echo of anoise, anoise that
somehow didn't belong in that serene place. A faint clicking, the sound of metal tapping rock. And
another sound, something he couldn't put hisfinger on and yet it stirred recollections of Chicago, his
hometown.

He strained to grasp the noise again, asif by concentrating his hearing he could tear free of the thick vell
of sllence enveloping the tunnel. Not moving, not breathing, not understanding the cause of his sudden
fear, he listened.

And heard the noises again.
click-click, click, click-click

The clicking, followed by that hissing, breethy, scraping sound. Heimmediately understood why the noise
made Samud think of asandstorm, but that analogy wasn't quite right. Samuel had spent al twenty-two
yearsof hislifein the deserts of southern Utah. For Will, however, the sound brought back memories of
Chicago's powerful weether.

It was the sound of dry, windblown leaves and loose paper hissing across concrete streets and
sdewalks. But unlike steady gusts of Chicago wind, the new sound ebbed and flowed with ajerky,
stop-start fed. It reminded Will of another noise, anoise held learned to watch out for since he'd started
hiking into the mountains with Samue and Douglas some three years ago—the maignant sound of a
rattlesnakeéswarning.

He fought down a creeping panic and asudden, clutching stab of claustrophobia. Hisreaction to the
strange noise was primitive, inginctive, and raw.

Will rolled to his knees and peered into the hole held |abored so long to create. He felt astrong urgeto
run, but hisfriends werein there. He stared into the tunnel, listening to the bone-dry hissing-rattling sound
grow and swell—until another, more recognizable sound joined the approaching noise.

The sound of aman screaming billowed up from some unseen place far down the tunnd. Will knew it
was Samud, dthough held never before heard Samuel scream. It was ahigh, piercing noise, amost
feminine, full of agony and terror that transcended either sex. The scream lasted only afew seconds,



faded to asingle, mournful, fearful moan, then ceased.

Will forced himself to remain rooted to the spot. He couldn't summon the courage to cram himsdlf into
the narrow opening, to crawl farther into the mountain's belly, but he could keep himsdlf from acowardly
flight while hisfriendsremained in thetunnd.

He saw abouncing light before he heard the rhythmic pound of heavy footsteps and the strained
breathing of aman running for hislife. He recognized Douglas, pounding hard and fast up the sandy
incline, blood smearing hisface and covering his chest asif someone had splashed him with agrest
bucket of gore. Douglasfel hard, hisface skidding in theloose dirt, his helmet rolling and bouncing likea
decapitated head. Ignoring the lost helmet, he scrambled to hisfeet and ran some more, kicking up arcing
streams of the fine cave silt with each desperate step.

Confusion and panic gripping hisvoice and thoughts, Will screamed to hisfriend. “Douglasl What's
happening?’
Douglas said nothing. His eyeswere wide, their whites shining intently in the glow of Will's headlamp.

Douglas closed the distance quickly. Will saw strange flashing lights and movement behind his sprinting
friend—the subtle, rushing form of something hismind couldn't place. Before he could register theimage,
Douglas dove for the narrow opening and blocked dl sight into the deep tunndl.

Douglastried to worm hisway through the tight bottleneck, but panic dowed his efforts. His hands
lashed forward more like he was drowning than crawling through a mountain. His knuckles burst open
each timethey dammed into jagged, unforgiving rock.

"Hold on Doug, cam down!” Will grabbed at his friend's flailing arms and bloody hands. “Let me pull
you out!” Douglas made noises that weren't words. Spittle flew from hiswide-open mouth, splattering
againg hisface, mixing with the blood that Will knew once belonged to Samue.

Will pulled and Douglas started to dide through, but whatever had been chasing him caught up and pulled
back—hard. Will lost his grip on Douglas's blood-dick skin. Doug's hands grasped desperately at the
rocks, hisfingers astaut and rigid as dry sticks scattered by the desert wind. Douglas's eyes somehow
grew even wider and his mouth opened with athroat-ripping scream that made Will want to cover his
earsand run.

Will once again fought down hisurgeto flee. He dove forward, grabbing Douglass|eft arm just asthe
unseen assaillant yanked again. Douglas lurched backward into the darkness, into the opening. Will pulled
with dl hismight, fighting to keep hisfriend dive. The strange lightsflickered ingde the tunndl, coming
from whatever played tug-of-war with Douglass body.

Will planted hisfeet on the same boulder hed worked so hard to move, arched his back, and heaved
with every last ounce of strength.

From inside the opening, Will saw aflash of something silver. A sudden rel ease of opposite pressure
made him fall backward on hisass, asif his opponent in the tug-of-war had just dropped the rope.

Only it wasn't arope held been pulling.

Will looked down, even as the urge to run claimed his mind, even as he scrambled backward, trying to
get to hisfeet. In hisgrasp he clutched Douglass bloody mess of a hand—which had been nestly severed
just above the wrist with a cut as clean asthat of abutcher's meat-saw.

Silhouetted in the lone spotlight of his headlamp, the only light in the eternally black cave, he saw blood



patter down in long dripsto the silt below. The radius and ulna gleamed white and oozed gooey marrow.
The darkness seemed to close in around him like a noxious cloud.

But it waan't dl dark.

Hickersof colored light still sparkled from the opening, playing off the rough gray rocks asthey quickly
grew brighter—whatever had taken Samuel was coming through the opening.

Good-Samaritan time was over.

Will tossed the hand aside and scrambled to hisfeet. As he did, he heard movement, the scratchy rasp of
something diding through the narrow opening. It came after him, those strange lights flashing maicioudly.
Will didn't look back. Fueled by sheer terror, he scrambled up the narrow tunnel, attacking theincline
like an anima dashing away from apredator. If he could just make it back to the opening, back to camp,
out of the narrow tunnel and into the sunlight, maybe he could escape. Maybe this thing couldn't leave the
cave.

He clung to that hope as he made his desperate dash. Chest heaving, limbs screaming white-hot from
fatigue, at last he saw sunlight. With alast burst of energy, he escaped the shaft and madeit to the small
clearing outside.

Wilford Igoe Jr. didn't makeit any farther.
Artidefrom The'Y News, Brigham Y oung University
April 4,1942

Graduate Students Missing

Presumed lost in Caves

By Shannon Carmichae

Today police declared three Brigham Y oung graduate students missing. The three geology studentswere
doing fieldwork in the Wah Wah Mountainsin western Utah.

Samue J. Anderson, 22, Douglas Nadia, 21, and Wilford Igoe Jr., 22, were doing research in the
remote area. Officias became concerned when Anderson's parents contacted the university, saying that
he was due home on March 27. Utah State Police hiked out to their last reported location, which sits at
an elevation of 3,500 feet.

"It was difficult reaching the Ste,” said Henry I1sbey of the Utah State Police. “We had aplane fly over
their last reported location, but couldn't find anything. We hiked up and found no sign of them, not evena
campsite.”

Police officids said the search could prove difficult because of the terrain, and because the students have
been in the hillsfor dmost a month with no contact. Isbey added that it'simpossible to know when the
sudentsran into trouble.

"Asfar aswe know, they may have been missing for two or three weeks,” Isbey said.
Schooal officids said they would do anything in their power to help find the students.



Book One—Opportunity
Chapter One
July 30, 2008

Sonny McGuiness sat at acorner table, saring angrily at thelonghaired Indian Stting across from him.
The bar was dark with shadow despite the noonday sun that blazed on shuttered windows. They had the
corner of the bar to themselves, not because there were only ten people in the place, but rather because
both of them smelled asif they hadn't bathed in weeks. Sonny's shocking-white, unkempt beard framed a
scowl that furrowed his deeply wrinkled, dark-black face. The skin around his eyes was somewhat
lighter than the rest of his onyx complexion, alight chocolate color, giving him an odd reverse-mask
appearance. He drank his beer asif it would douse his sudden burst of temper.

"Bullshit,” Sonny said. “Y ou ain't found no Silver Spring.”

"Hey, man, don't get hostile,” said the Indian. “Y ou said you were a prospector, so | just thought I'd
share atale with you. Y ou believe what you like, man.” He drawled out the word “man” so it sounded
long, smooth, and mellow. The Indian sipped at his double shot of Red Star vodka.

The mention of the Silver Spring caused their first conversationa pausein over an hour. Sonny had
entered the bar planning to drink alone, as he usudly did, when he spotted aman with atelltale head of
long, straight, black hair. Sonny had introduced himsalf and bet a beer he could guessthe Indian'stribe
on thefirg try. The Indian's name was Dennis Diving-Bird. Most people, however, just called him Dennis
the Deadhead. Dennistook the bet, Sonny guessed Hopi—Dennis bought thefirst round.

After forty years of progpecting in the American Southwest, Sonny prided himsdlf on guessing any Native
American'stribe. Heliked Indians. They were, in fact, the only people he liked.

"The Silver Springisjust amyth,” Sonny said. “I should know, | looked for it twenty years ago and didn't
find squat.”

"Whered you look?’ Dennis asked.

"I looked in the Snake, Black, and San Francisco ranges.” Sonny finished his beer and signaled the
bartender for another. “1 didn't find nuthin'."

"Well, you wereclose,” Dennis said. Hetook a puff from the latest in his nonstop chain of Pall Malls.
“It'sin the Wah Wahs."

Dennisswrinkled face hid under long, dirty-black hair. He wore atie-dyed shirt, afringed leather jacket
covered with Grateful Dead skull patches, and smelled awful. But then again, Sonny knew that histwo
graight weeksin the Arizona foothills had fixed him with arather ripe sench aswell.

"The legends are true, man,” Dennissaid. “That spring is bubbling out of the ground into alittle pool full
of slver dust.”

"So you found the Silver Spring?” Sonny tried to sound disbelieving, but curiosity tickled histhoughts.
“Thelegendistrue, andit'sjust Sttin’ therewaitin’ for someoneto clamiit?'

"That'sright, man. It'sjust layin’ there as pretty asyou please, aslong as no onesfound it snce | was
there about ten years ago.”



"Right. And that'swhy you're here, a the Two-Spoke Bar, drinking rotgut vodkainstead of livin' high on
the hog &t the Hilton."

"Hey, man, just ‘cause | didn't take it don't mean it ain't there.”

"Then why the hdl didjyaleaveit?’ Sonny wasn't mad at Dennis, only a himsdf. The story was pure
bullshit, yet dready he felt that uncontrollable part of him embracethe taletheway agirl'slegswrap
around her lover. Some men suffer addictions to drugs, booze, women, money; Sonny's habit was
curiosty.

Dennis the Deadhead |eaned forward congpiratorialy, curling protectively around hisdrink, keeping his
head low to the table. “That place is cursed, man. Maybe even evil."

"Aw, go fuck yourself! No curse ever stopped anyone from grabbin’ the pot at the end of the rainbow.
I'd lift the devil's sack and pluck treasure from his ass, if that'swhat it took."

"That's‘ cause you ain't ever been there,” Dennis said softly. “ The Hopi know enough to steer clear of
that place. No one goes out there. No reason to go therein thefirgt place. Nothing there but dirt and
rock. | went out there to see for mysdlf, to test the legends, you might say, but | only went once. The
devil liveson that mountain. Y ou can feel him, man."

Throughout the conversation, Dennis's eyes had sparkled with friendly laughter. Especialy when he
talked of the summers of ‘79 through * 84, during which he'd toured with the Dead. Now, however,
Sonny noted that Denniss friendly emotion filtered away like wigps of smoke from hisPdl Madl. Ashe
spoke of the Silver Spring and the mountains, his eyesfilled with fear. Every few seconds, Dennis|ooked
from one corner of the bar to the next, asif the smple mention of the legend might summon some evil

power.
"Soif you know where this placeis, how come you haven't told anybody?"

Dennis shrugged. “No one ever asked. Most people take one look at me and shy away. | can't
remember the last time someone introduced themsalves and offered to buy meadrink. In fact, | think
yourethefirg."

Sonny nodded. “Y eah, but a secret like that burnsahole in aman's bely. If no one hasfound it yet, you
haven't redly told anyone. Why me?"

Dennis tared at Sonny long and hard.

"l don't know,” he said after a pause. Hiswords were starting to dur dightly. “Y ou're aman of theland. |
can fed that. Maybe | told you becauseif you go there, | know you'll feel what | feel. Maybe because
that place scares the shit out of me, and it won't scare you as much, maybe you can do something withit.
Maybeit's because I'm getting drunk. Who knows?'

Dennisdrained hisvodka, his eyes flashing to both corners as he did.
"Could you draw me amap?’ Sonny asked.

"Buy me another round of shotsand I'll draw it right on thisngpkin,” Dennissaid. “But | warnya. You
wont likethat place.

Sonny signaled the bartender again, this time with two fingersfor adouble shot.

Dennis produced ared Crayola, and on the beer-stained napkin he started drawing amap. Their



conversation continued for another hour, during which the two of them got exceedingly drunk, but Sonny
wasn't redly paying atention anymore. All he could think about was the possibility that the fabled Silver
Spring—where silver poured from the ground like water from a bottomless canteen—wasred.

Sonny wasn't some greenhorn straight off the bus. He knew the Southwest like aman knows hiswife's
body. He could hop in hisHumvee, drivefive or sx hoursto Utah, then hike into the Wah Wah
Mountains and locate Dennis the Deadhead's mythica Silver Spring. The trip might take aday, perhaps
two considering hiking speed in the unforgiving Wah Wahs. That wasn't much wasted time, and held
satisfy hiscuriogty. He had to check it out. An ounce of truth lined every old wives' tale, as his sainted
mother used to tell him.

An ounce of truth sometimes paid off with an ounce of gold. Or in this case, an ounce of silver. Sonny
wasn't going to be picky.



Chapter Two

Snow blew madly in anear-blinding wave, big wet clumps collecting on the windshield only to be swept
away by the wipers. Wind drove at the night, the snow marking the wind's direction like tracer bullets.
Connell leaned forward and squinted out the window. Visbility was only afew hundred feet. Rows of
lights on either side of the winding driveway glowed with fuzzy haos of whipping snow.

"Maybe we should stay for awhile, hon,” Cori said. “The party istill going strong. Although | wonder
how long it will last without Mr. Life of the Party there to charm everyone.” Her hand reached out to
touch his, which clung to the steering whedl in awhite-knuckled grip. He threw her aglance, offering her
areassuring smile.

"Oh, I'm surethey'll find away to celebrate without me,” Connell said, holding her hand for amoment.
“Beddes, I'd rather spend at least some of the first day of the new year with my wife, not abunch of
rowdy, drunken coworkers."

She amiled a him, that warm, melting smile that had caught hiseye a aNew Y ear's Eve party Six years
ago. Caught hiseye and never let go. He grinned back.

"Don't worry, Pea,” Conndll said, returning the smile. “Well befine.” The storm was getting worse, and
he had no intention of spending the night at his boss's house, crashed out on the floor somewhere with
passed-out coworkers scattered about like victims of some party land mine. Thiswas New Y ear's Eve,
after dl, the anniversary of the night hed met hiswife. He would spend the night with her and her aone,
inther bed.

Connell looked hard both to the left and to the right. He saw nothing through the amost solid swirl of
snow. He pushed gently on the accelerator and eased the Lincoln out onto the road, tires crunching along
the snow-covered driveway.

There was no squed of brakes, no blaring horn, only the sudden smashing impact and the impossibly
loud cries of screeching metd. The car lurched to the left, the back end swinging around on the wet,
dushy pavement. Theimpact threw Connell againgt his seat belt so hard it cut off hisbreath. The Lincoln
spun like achild's top, whipping amost afull 360 degrees as the back end flew into the ditch. Conndll's
head snapped back when the car crunched to ahat. As suddenly asit started, it ended, leaving complete
slence except for the rapid clicking of ruined motors cooling in the night's grip.

Connell blinked, hands still clutching the steering whed, trying to form athought. A dull throb pulsedin
hisneck. A warm wetness and a sharp, stabbing pain rose up from hisright knee. Hismind finaly
centered on asingle word: accident.

Heturned to look at Cori. Faint light strayed from the lamps surrounding the driveway. The impact had
devastated the passenger-side door, glass gone but for afew jagged shards, the once stately Lincoln now
ameass of twisted metd, torn leather, and ripped fabric. The other car had smashed the door in so far that
Cori was pushed dmost to the middle of the seat. Snow blew in through the broken window, melting
whereit hit blood.

Her eyes were wide with shock and pain. Beautiful blond hair clung to her face, matted down with
glistening red. Flecks of glass hung in her hair like glitter. Blood sheeted her scalp, her cheeks, her chin,
falling to stain her white coat.

Shelooked at him, questioning terror written across her face. “Connd|?” Something liquid and gurgling



masked her smooth voice. She sounded wesk, fractured.
Conndll felt astab of panic, aburst of blind rage. It didn't take ageniusto see shewould dieif hedidn't
oet help.

"Takeit easy, Pea,” Conndl said, hisvoice loud and ragged with fear and adrenaline. He fumbled with
his seat belt. His hands were dick with blood.

"Conndl?’ she asked again in her fragile voice. Her eyes |ooked glassy, unfocused. She weakly lifted a
bloody hand toward him.

Hetook her hand, feeling the movement of tiny broken bones under her skin.

It was dready too late, and he knew it. He felt tears welling up; he fought them back. He held her
ravaged hand againgt his cheek.

"I'm here, Pea. I'm here.”

Her head lolled forward. Connell heard voices shouting over the whipping wind. Faces appeared around
the car; coworkers and concerned friends peered in, asking if he was okay. His eyes remained fixed on
his dead wife. Snow swept in around them, soft and silent.

He held her hand againgt his cheek—her warmth faded away; her hand dowly grew as cold asafresh
fish dropped oniice.

* * * %

Conndll lurched up, ascream locked in histhroat. He was freezing—not from the dream-snow, but from
swesat-soaked sheets turned icy by air conditioning running full blast.

Hetried to control hisragged breathing. He never knew when the dream would come. Sometimes heldd
haveit for weeks on end, every night areenactment of the terror and the loss. Sometimes held go months
between the dreams, and then held fed a strange guiilt at the possibility of getting over hiswife's degath.

But he knew better. Hed never get over it.

He sat on the edge of thefilthy bed, on sheetsthat hadn't been changed in months. As he stared out into
the black mess of the room, he knew that the car crash had taken hislife aswel.

His pulse dowly returned to normal, and he steadied his breathing, fighting down the stabbing pain of
losing her yet again. He looked at the clock—4:17 am. Hed overdept. He dragged himsdf out of bed.
He had work to do.



Chapter Three
Augud 2

Sonny stared at the tiny spring bubbling forth from the mountainside. It spilled cold water onto cracked
rocks heated by the blistering Utah sun. Sonny's huge smile split his deep-black skin, reveding too-white
faseteeth.

Sometimes you just get lucky, Sonny thought. Y ou spend your life hunting for gold and silver and a
dozen other things, following up on leads, rumors, hunches, and myths and usudly you get squat. For
every valuable find discovered from such dream chasing, there were twenty or thirty huntsthat turned up
nothing but dirt. After afruitless summer with nothing to show but blisters and afew new aches and
pains, asummer spent researching dead and lost mines; asummer spent buried in libraries, city halls,
universty museums, asummer spent digging worthless dirt under the same sun in four different sates, he
stood there looking at the results of good ol d-fashioned dumb luck.

Denniss map had proved amazingly accurate consdering it was based on aten-year-old memory. Those
Hopis sure knew their land. The water spilled out of the rock, trickling dowly into an ages-old
streambed.

Water was scarce in these parts, dways had been, which should have made even atiny spring like thisa
known landmark. But no one came here. He reached down to his belt and rubbed the Hopi Indian charm
he'd bought specificdly for thistrip.

On hisbdlt, opposite the Indian charm, hung hislucky pietin. Tied to ashort rope, it swayed from his
belt like a six-shooter dangling from an outlaw's hip. He scooped up some silt, then swished it around in
thetin, the motion carrying the fine siit over the edge to splash againgt the mountainsde. After two
minutes of panning, dl that remained was afine, white, metalic dust.

A whoop escaped hislips, ayell of joy that bounced off the mountain and into the dry summer air. Hed
found it. Sonny pulled asmdll via from his pocket, poured in the watery dust and seded it tight. He
carefully placed the vid in his chest pocket and buttoned it shut, giving it aproud little pat before covering
up histracks and any evidence of hisvigt. It had taken him sx grueling hours of climbing and hiking to
reach the spot, and the same return trip stood between him and his Humvee. After that, it was three miles
worth of rough travel to reach anything resembling aroad.

Sonny had found slver acouple of timesin his career. The pring didn't contain enough dust to cover a
summer'sworth of prospecting, but that wasn't the way things worked anymore. Nowadays you made
much more money finding the stuff and then selling the location to big companies. Let somemining
corporation suck the minerals from the ground. Sonny, meanwhile, would spend the winter in Rio with
some bronzed little piece of fluff athird his age bringing him drinks and keeping him warm at night.

Sonny was exultant. The chance encounter in an out-of-the-way bar and asmall gesture of friendliness
had combined to produce thisfind. Denniss amazing story was grade-A, one-hundred-percent true.

Whilethefind eated him, Sonny couldn't shake memories of Denniss fearful, scanning eyes. That fear
made Sonny nervous—because he felt something on that mountain, just as Dennis said he would. Sonny
found himsdf hurrying down the dope faster than normd.

The Indians were so scared of the place they wouldn't even walk on this mountain, let aone approach the
gpring. He'd asked around, vigiting dl the Indians he knew in the area. Even the kids and the half-breeds,



the ones who put little or no stock in the old faith, didn't come here. There was nothing but rocks, sand,
and tough, scraggly trees—and the nearest town, Milford, was an hour away—buit it still gave him the
creepy-crawlies. Asfar as Sonny could divine, Dennis the Deadhead was the only Indian to vigit this spot
in at least adecade.

Sonny knew why. Most Indians, even the half-breeds, had an affinity for what the land had to say. After
forty yearsin the desert, Sonny had that same affinity—and this place didn't have anything niceto say at
al. This place spooked him in someintangible, eerieway. Therocks held afeding that wasn't right,
waan't natural. Sonny wouldn't go so far asto cdl it afeding of evil, but it sure ashdll didn't make him
warm and fuzzy indde. Hed never fdt anything likeit. It wasn't just the mountain, but what wason it.

Or rather, what wasn't onit.

There were no animals here. The Utah mountains teem with life if you know what to ook for. Here,
however, there was nothing; no birds flying overhead, no jackrabbit tracks, no rodents, no chewed
branches or seed husks, no droppings of any kind. The place was still. Quiet. Uncomfortable.

After saverd hours of that creepy fedling tingling up his back, Sonny findly nailed down the vibe. It was
the same dark, thick atmosphere that clingsto afunera. He understood why the Indians caled the place
cursed. He aso understood why Dennis the Deadhead |eft it alone despite the obvious riches to be had.
It didn't matter. Hed mapped the location extremely well and could give exact coordinates to the spring.
He wouldn't have to come here again.

Asdarknessfél, Sonny finished up the long hike to the Humvee. He took athirsty look at the blazing
sunset, apicture that grew more and more beautiful asthe yearswore on. As he climbed into the
Humvee, he felt asense of reief that the mountain would soon be behind him. He patted his chest pocket
one moretime to make sure the vial wasthere. Hisleathery face split by awide smile, Sonny headed for
Sdt Lake City.



Chapter Four
August 3

Sdt Lake City looked so damn beautiful, ajewel against the breathtaking backdrop of the Wasatch
Mountains. The view was heavenly—it was no wonder Brigham Y oung stopped his caravan some one
hundred and fifty years ago and decided that this was the place for the Mormonsto stake their claim.

The staking of claimswas abig part of Utah's history, whether it wasfor land or mineras. Utah sucked
untold fortunes from the earth: gold, iron ore, molybdenum, potash, magnesium. In the 1990s the Sate
led the nation in beryllium and Gilsonite production. But asfar back as Sonny could remember, platinum
clamswere not among Utah's fabled stories.

"Flatinum?’ Sonny asked, hisface wrinkling increduloudy under hisnow nestly trimmed beard. “Y ou
sure, Herb?1 thought it was silver.”

"Yes, I'm sure, Sonny,” Herbert Darker said in aconspiratoria whisper. Herbert was one of the few men
that Sonny could look down at. Herbert stood al of five-foot-five, just ahair under Sonny's diminutive
stature. They sat on opposite sides of ablack |ab table, the sample result printout lying between them.
Herbert's eyesreveded his excitement over thefind.

"It lookslike avery rich source,” Herbert said. “ The stuff you found isamost pure. That's unheard of.
And one of theimpuritiesisiridium, which isaso valuable. Thisisan amazing find."

Sonny found himsalf whigpering aswell. “ Areyou telling methisis my biggest find yet? Bigger than the
Jorgensson mine?"

"Well, it'sthe biggest find I've andyzed for you, anyway."

"Oh shut up, Herb,” Sonny said jokingly. “Y ou know damn well you're the only onel let touch my
samplesfor going on, what, fifteen yearsnow?"

Herbert looked away for a second—away and down. Then just as quickly, he looked up, looked Sonny
inthe eye, and smiled. “ Sixteen years, actudly,” Herbert said. “1'm not an expert on platinum, but from
what I'veread—" his voice dropped to a breathless whisper, and Sonny strained to hear “—you may
have the purest veininthe world."

* k% k %

Thirty minutes later, Herbert Darker sat in the privacy of hislocked office, astunning view of sunset over
the Wasatch Mountainsfilling the room with amber light. He spoke into the phone, still whispering despite
the fact that Sonny had | eft twenty minutes eerlier.

"I'mteling you, Mr. Kirkland, thisisbig,” Herbert said, his hand cupped over the mouthpiece.
"Just tell methe ore grade, Herbert?” Conndll said.

"I don't know. He didn't bring in an ore sample, just the dust he panned. For there to be that much dust
and haveit bethat pure, it would have to come from avery concentrated source. Theresno impurities,
except for about thirty percent iridium, but that's almost as valuable as the platinum. If | had to guess, I'd
Say at least ten ounces per ton of ore, maybe higher.”

"Bullshit, Herbert. There's no platinum vein that high.” The sound of Connell's cold tone dways made



Herbert nervous. He hated talking to the man, but Connell dways paid so well.

"Youthink | don't know that?” Herbert said. “Why do you think | caled you so quickly?” Tenson
gripped hisbody. Stress guided his every movement, making him fidget in hischair. Histemples
throbbed, as did the back of his neck. He knew he shouldn't have called Connell, but now it wastoo
lae

Hed met Conndll only once, mostly because the man rardly Ieft his office, ruling the mining industry like
some dark magician from histower of doom. Connell wastal and lanky, just ahair over sx-foot-four.
His carriage gave off predatorid waves. He moved quickly, with adight limp but little wasted motion, his
black curly hair framing remorseless gray eyes.

"Okay,” Conndll said. “Wheredid he get it?'
"Hell if | know. He'sacrafty old bastard.”

"How can you not know, Herbert? It's got to bein the area, right? | mean you'rein Sat Lake City, and
he cameto you."

Herbert took abreath. The pain in histemples throbbed in time with his heartbest. “ He dways comesto
me. He does it so no one can guessthelocation of hisfinds.”

A little more than ayear earlier Sonny had discovered gold in Wyoming. The prospector carried the
sample al theway to Salt Lake City, dl the way to Darker, Inc., for anadyss. Theword is ‘trust,’
Herbert thought. You're the only one he trusts, the only one. Now you're betraying that trust.

Connell'sflat, no-nonsense voice grabbed Herbert's attention. 1 need to talk to thisman immediately.
Give me hisname and number.”

"l can't do that!” Herbert heard himsalf whining, but he couldn't help it. “Y ou have to wait. HEs only
been intown for a couple of days. He only found out about the platinum quality thirty minutes ago, for
Christ's sake. HEd know | gave you the information!™

"Y ou're apiece of work, you know that? Y ou don't have any ideawhere he got it, it may be the richest
find of the century, and now you'retdling me| shouldn't cal him?"

"But Mr. Kirkland, hell know it wasme! | could gotojail if he wanted to press charges.”

"Ohdon't beanidiot,” Conndl sad. “He couldn't prove anything, and there is nothing connecting you
with us. | haven't got time for this bullshit. | need his number, and | need it now. Would an extraten
grand change your mind?"

Herbert fell silent. He could till back out and protect Sonny'sfind, at least for awhile. Perhaps give
Sonny timeto properly sdll the claim; Connell was ruthless and would find away to own the Site within
days. Sonny might very well wind up with nothing.

"Okay, Herbert, you're playing hardball. My courier will deliver twenty-five grand to your hot little hands
the moment | have achat with thisman. Thisisaone-time offer. | need adecison right now."

Herbert's head throbbed. So much money in one shot, but only if he served up Sonny on aplate. Connell
didn't make idle threats; it was now or nothing.

"Wl thanks for wasting my time,” Conndl said. “I'll get my informéation e sewhere.”



"Wait!” Herbert said, hearing how loud he sounded in hisquiet office. “I'll giveit to you.” Herbert gave
Connell the number. Even as he did it, he knew he was doing something wrong, but Connell would just
find another way to get the information. \WWrong or right, Herbert had aready given up the goods on
Sonny McGuiness. To not get anything out of that mistake was just plain bad business.

"You'reasmart man, Herbert,” Conndll said. “A very smart man. | dso need any information you can
give me on Sonny himsalf. What other Sites has he discovered, and what companies does he usudly
work with?"

Herbert's jaw opened in astonishment. Connell had never asked for such details before.
"l ... 1 can't tell you that."

"] want that information and | want it now, Herbert,” Conndll said in acold, detached voice. “ Givemeal
the information you have on Sonny McGuiness. I'll double my offer. Fifty thousand dollars™

"But that information isn't part of the deal. The dedl is| come acrossinfo on any big findsand | call you.
That'sit."

"The dedl's changed,” Conndll said. “ Y ou'll give me dl theinfo right now, or you're out of the stable. No
more payoffs.”

Herbert felt hisface growing red with anger. “You ... you wouldn't do that! 1've given you greet
informetion!™

"Don't be stupid, Herbert. Y ou think you're the only one on the payroll?'Y ou think | do this shit for my
hedth?| have asystem, asystem that gives me mgor finds, and if you're not part of that system, then
you're out of that system.”

Herbert paused, then clenched histeeth. His head fdlt hot. He knew held bitten off way more than he
could chew thistime. “I think I'll take my twenty-five thousand and call it finished, Mr. Kirkland."

Thistimeit was Conndl'sturn to pause.

"Itsaonetimeoffer,” hesaid findly. “When you're out, you're out for good. | want thet informetion.”
"l gaveyou his number."

"l won't forget this, Herbert."

Herbert swallowed and wiped sweat from hisforehead. “1 know that, Mr. Kirkland."

Herbert hung up the phone, then dropped his face into his hands. Guilt perched on Herbert's conscience
like abuzzard on a coyote's carcass. He'd sold Sonny out. Just like that. And to Conndll Kirkland, no
less. Connell was not anice person, to put it lightly, and he would stop at nothing to possessthisfind. In
mining circles Conndl's nickname was “ Cutthroat.”

Conndll wanted this one, wanted it bad. Sonny was in deep shit. And Herbert knew he was the oneto
blame.

* * % %
Conndl'sfingers drummed the desktop, ba-da-ba-bump, ba-da-ba-bump.

He hated Herbert Darker. He hated any whiner, and Herbert was awhiner of the highest degree.
Businesswas business, and if you had to sall someone out to make money that's what you did. But you



didn't whine about it, you didn't try to rationalize t, try to judtify it in order to assuage your guilt.

Conndll had dozens of agents performing the same task as Herbert Darker. He referred to the numerous
informants as his“ stable,” asif he were apimp and the spies hiswhores. Hed created the network four
years ago with only three people, two in Americaand onein South Africa. The sysem wasillega but
profitable, and he'd gradually added to the roster. Now his stable encompassed twenty-seven geologists
and environmenta analysts from acrossthe globe, dl of whom knew that any potentia find they reported
to Connell would earn them aquick five grand.

Those calls usualy amounted to nothing. Sometimes they were outright bullshit, people trying to scam
him. The one thing—the only thing—he liked about Herbert Darker was that the man never tried torun a
scam.

Herbert never called with low-grade sites, never called with finds that amounted to nothing, and never,
ever called with erroneous data. Each time Connell took acall from Herbert, it merited specia attention.
Herbert triple-checked every sample, and on top of that often researched the site himself before calling.

Thistime, however, Herbert had caled after only onetest, and less than three hours after completing it.
Very amateurish. Or at least it would be from anyone else. It meant Herbert had dmost pissed himself
from excitement. Ten ounces of platinum per ton of orewould do that to afella.

If the numbers held true, the find would be by far the richest vein ever discovered. Conndl smiled at
Herbert's petty greed. The man risked jail and the destruction of hisbusinessfor alousy twenty-five
grand when the platinum ven'sworth might measure in the hundred-million range.

Connell paced his office, staring out hiswindow on the fifty-sixth floor of the Renai ssance Center
building. It was dank and drizzly above the Detroit River, thick clouds blotting out the stars. His cheap
auit itched. Heignored the digtraction. He could afford far better clothing, better even than the
custom-tailored affairs sported by EarthCore's other executives. Hell, by now he could probably afford
amogt anything, although he hadn't checked his bank statement in over two years. Connell had more
important thingsto do with histime than spend it worrying about appearances.

Hefdt anxious. If thisfind was even haf as big as Herbert Darker estimated, it would be one of the
richest stes on the face of the planet. It would definitely be EarthCore's biggest asset. A sense of urgency
filled him—any rival company that discovered the site would move fast to buy or lease the property. At
the moment, Connell held the edge. He had to get to Sonny M cGuiness and he had to get to him fast.

First, however, he had to inform the boss.

* * % %

"Comein, swestie,” BarbaraY akdly said through thick cigar smoke as Conndll entered her massive
office. The office, and everything in it, had once belonged to Barbarals husband, Charles Y akely Jr.
Since the plane crash that killed Charles Jr. and her son—Charles 11l—just over adecade ago,
EarthCore and the big office belonged to her.

She gave Connell awarm amile. He was her favorite. Most thought that Connell had garnered her favor
with his penchant for big-dollar digs, but it went much deeper than money and profit. They shared the
unspoken void of true love lost to sudden, heart-ripping tragedy. She'd watched him changefrom a
gregarious, wide-smiled person into a hard-faced, hard-hearted man. Once upon atime hed been a
familiar face to dmost everyone in the company. In thelast four years, however, hed become nothing
more than avoice on the phone to most employees, avoice of pure efficiency and power.

Efficiency wasthe key word, she reminded hersdlf. Efficiency, and profitability.



"This better be important, sweetie,” Barbarasaid, her gravely voice holding anote of impatience.

"It'simportant.” Connell's features were expressionless, but then they alwayswere. “We have alead on
something that could be big.”

"How big?'
"How familiar are you with the platinum market?"

Barbara shrugged. EarthCore had no platinum interests, and as such she didn't concern herself with the
subject.

"Prices have risen steedily for the last five years,” Conndl said. “Ford introduced anew cataytic
converter two years ago and hailed it as the next generation of pollution control. Their converters, each of
which requires two ounces of platinum, are arevolutionary step in automobile pollution control. The
system not only reduces pollution, but the air that leavesthe car is cleaner than the air that goesin. No
more pollution. No more smog. The end of the electric-car threat. The oil companies are nuts over the
technology.”

Barbara nodded. Ford's pollution-free cars sold faster than cigars at a Castro convention. The Lucid, the
first modd to come standard with the new converter, waslast year's best-selling model.

"Every car maker in theindustry is striving to duplicate the process,” Conndll said. “Mercedes-Benz,
Toyota, and Chevrolet are al releasing new modelswith the same technology. In two years, every new
gas-powered car will have this feature—that's two ounces of platinum for each vehicle

"And that's just the tip of the iceberg. Some estimate that twenty percent of goods manufactured today
ether contain platinum or are produced by equipment that contains platinum. It'sin al types of things
from eyeglassesto jet enginesto medica equipment to crude-ail refining machinery. Industry usesthe
stuff for its conductivity, resistance to corrosion and high temperature resistance. In addition, it'sthe meta
du jour of the computer industry. Use of platinum in computers has increased at least athousand percent
every year Snce 1994, a gpan of growth unprecedented since the introduction of silicon.

"Unlike glicon, however, platinum isn't chegp. With the continued computer industry push and its
increased usein the auto industry, the demand is through the roof.”

Barbara suppressed asmile of materna pride. She wondered if there was any informationa tidbit about
the mining industry her Connell hadn't memorized.

He continued. “On top of the increased demand, there's a possible supply shortage coming soon. South
Africaand Russaare the main producers of platinum ore. There are only two subgtantia platinum
sourcesin America—Stillwater Minein Montanaand the Weaver Creek minein Arizona. Unlike gold,
which many banks stockpile to sell when pricesrise, the only known platinum reserves arein the Russian
gates. They dumped most of it in the late nineties, and mogt analysts think the Russian reserves are
practicaly gone. What this meansisthat the demand for platinum is soaring while supply issill inthe
ground. The priceis currently stable at 850 dollars an ounce. South Africa controls the mgority of
supply, and they'll ration production to drive up the price. My research leads meto believe that the price
will shoot above 925 dollars an ounce by thistime next year, and should continueto rise.”

Barbararolled the cigar in her fingers. She knew from experience that Connell's businessingtincts
bordered on the uncanny; if he smelled a profit, that was good enough for her.

"Ore grade for platinum isusualy very low, in the range of one ounce platinum per tentonsore. The



Weaver Creek Ste surprised the world's mining community with one ounce per six tons of ore. Above
that, Stillwater mine in Oklahomamakes unproven claims of eight-tenths of an ounce per single ton of
ore.” Connell leaned forward, gripping the edge of her desk.

"We may be on to asite that possesses avastly higher grade. In fact, we may be onto the richest
platinum vein in history. I'm leaving tonight for Salt Lake City to tak to the prospector who discovered
thissite. | need to buy him now before abidding war erupts. | want to use KaylaMeyers.™

At the mention of that name, Barbara's smile faded.
"We discussed this, Connell. Y ou agreed we weren't going to use her anymore.”
Connell nodded. “ That was then, thisisnow. | don't know if the prospector will play ball or not.”

"So throw agob of money at him,” Barbarasaid. “If your hunch isthat strong, take achance. I'll
authorizeamillion."

Conndl shrugged. “Don't know if that will be enough, Barbara. | figure weve only got one chanceto get
the location, and we haveto get it now. If the prospector even has an inkling of how vauable thisfind
may be, hewon't even blink a amillion. If | throw more money hisway and he's smart, hell contact
every mining company in theworld and negotiate abigger ded "

"Sowhat? Last time | checked, we were avery profitable company. We don't need Meyers—we can
match any dedl "

Conndl nodded again. “ True, but negotiationstake time. Y ou and | both know that with today's
technology, one of the other companies may discover his site before we can close aded. On top of that,
if he starts making noise about a platinum find, the South Africans could get involved, so could the
Russians, even the U.S. government. | want to keep thisvery, very quiet. | need to close the dedl with
the prospector immediately, before word gets out. In order to do that, | need to know everything about
thisman, and | need to know now. | haveto hit the negotiation table fully armed.”

Barbara shook her head. “L ook, Conndll, that woman is bad news. She put that Crittenden Mines
employeein awheelchair "

" She was acquitted.”

"Of the criminal charge, but we're still holding the bag on the civil suit. I'm il trying to negotiate a decent
settlement. Or have you forgot were on the hook for $10 million in damages?”

"I haven't forgot the lawsuit, but don't forget the copper mine in Moyobamba, and the bauxite Stein
Queendand. How are those doing?'

Barbara grimaced. She hated it when Conndll played the smart-ass. Both of the mineswere huge profit
centersfor EarthCore.

"Y ou know damn well how they'redoing,” shesaid.

"And we wouldn't have those sitesif | hadn't used KaylaMeyers. And what about O'Doyle? Remember
the security problems we had before Kaylatold me about him?”

Barbara nodded.

"She'sthe best thereis,” Connell said. “I need information and | need it pronto. She'sthe only onewho



can ddiver.”

"| don't care about al that, she's bad news. She was kicked out of the NSA, for crying out loud, Connell.
We got our money'sworth out of her, but were not usng her agan.”

"But Barbara, this could be therichest find in history—"

"No! And that's final,” she said, pounding her fist on the desk. “Y ou'll haveto close the deal without her.
I'll call accounting, set up two million for you to close this dedl, but we're not using Meyers. Understand?!

Conndll sighed and looked away, but nodded.

Hewalked out of the room. Barbara smiled and took a big puff of the cigar. So he'd ssumbled onto the
richest platinum veinin history, eh? Knowing Connell as she did, she wasn't the least bit surprised. She
had faith in him—he could close the dedl without using that psycho Meyers.

That woman was downright scary.



Chapter Five
August 4

At 2:15 am. and back in his office, Connell worked the phone yet again. A deepy voice answered the
other end of theline after seventeen rings. Sleepy, but clearly irritated.

Kaylas voice was too deegp to belong to awoman, yet still somehow sounded feminine despite the
torrent of obscenitiesit usudly carried.

"This had better be damn good,” she said.
"ThisisKirkland."

"Mr. Kirkland?’ Respect was suddenly audiblein her voice. Or maybe it was just greed. “1'm surprised
to hear from you. How can | help you?"

"I need dirt onaman and | need it now,” Connell said. “ The nameis Sonny McGuiness. HEsa
prospector. Right now he's a the Sdt Lake City Hilton.” He heard Kayla scribbling furioudy.

"Permanent address or phone?"

"Don't know. He operates out of Salt Lake City and vacationsin Rio. That'sal | know."

"What ese?'

"l saidthat'sdl | know."

"Y ou've got to be shitting me."

"| shit you not, Ms. Meyers."

Kaylastone of respect gave way to one of annoyance. “Mr. Kirkland, that's not much to go on."

"He has his samples andlyzed at Darker Inc., a Sat Lake City company run by aman named Herbert
Darker. Darker may be your best source for leads.”

"Y ou know the Darker guy?'

"Yes, he'sinthe stable.” Connell often gave Kaylainformation that he gave to no one dsein theworld,
not even Barbara Y akely. Kaylawas efficient, quiet, and trustworthy, adthough Connell was sure that
would last only aslong as he remained her top-paying client. She was aworthwhile investment;
ex-National Security Agency operatives were tough to come by.

"Darker ison the payrall, so hell cooperate?’

Conndl thought on that for amoment. Herbert'sillusion of mordity might cause ddays, and Conndll
didn't havetimefor delays.

"Correction. He was in the stable,” Connell said. “Do what you have to do, but get me that information.
Just try and keep it under control thistime, will you? No more putting people in whedchairs.”

"I understand,” Kayla said. He could hear the smile in her voice. He wondered what Herbert wasin for,
then decided heredlly didn't care. Darker had made his bed, now held haveto deepinit.



Better him than me, Connell thought. Dedling with Kayla Meyers seemed like dedling with the devil;
sooner or later the tables would turn and you'd be on the receiving end of something painful and nasty.
Hewasn't afraid of her, but only because one hasto give adamn about living to be afraid of death. None
of that mattered—heredly didn't care to know how she obtained the dirt on Sonny McGuiness, aslong
asshegot it.

"l need this by tomorrow,” Conndll said.

"Oh go fuck yoursdlf, Kirkland! Y ou can't ask for that and you know it. I'm in Washington, for fuck's
sake. | haveto do acomputer search first and then probably fly to Salt Lake City. It's not going to

"Kayla, this paystriple your usud fee. That'sif | have something useful by 8:15 p.m. tomorrow. No
excuses. Understand?”

Her normal $15,000 fee suddenly turned into a rush-order $45,000.
"Sure, Mr. Kirkland,” Kaylasaid, her voicetired but resigned. “1 understand. 8:15 p.m. tomorrow."

Conndll hung up without another word. He knew she'd find something, he just hoped it would be enough.
He had to own McGuiness. Not only own him, he reminded himself, but make him part of the project.
According to Herbert, Sonny knew the area's mining history better than any man dive. Such knowledge
was vital to make things move quickly. Time was Conndl's biggest enemy. Sooner or later word of the
find would legk to the competition, but by then Connell intended to have the site locked up tight.

At 4:47 am., Kayla stared at the computer screen with bloodshot eyes. A recent DMV photo of Sonny
McGuiness smiled back at her with his blazing white teeth and abeard that seemed dectric againgt his
pitch-black skin.

You'reareal pain in the ass, Sonny-boy.

It had taken her well over an hour to dig up information on Sonny, which was twice her norma search
time. She had, however, finaly tracked down his Socid Security number. Thet little tidbit of information
opened up countless doors: credit ratings, Department of Motor Vehicleligts, tax info, etc.

HisDMYV history showed he currently owned an * 07 Humvee, a‘99 Grand Cherokee and an antique
79 Corvette. A cross-referenceto his credit rating showed al three vehicles were paid off.

She again cross-referenced his credit rating to find mortgage informeation. One residence: a
seven-hundred thousand dollar homein Reno.

Looks like a bum, lives like a king.

With afew keystrokes, she back-hacked from his credit report into his bank account. Interestingly
enough, he showed only thirteen grand to his name. Sheld have expected more from aman with such
expensve tastes.

How about tax evasion?

She cdlling up hisIRS records. Her eyeswidened dightly as she pieced together histax history over the
last thirty years. IRS files showed hisincome from 1970 through 2002 a over seven million dollars. She
ran atax-fraud sniffer program created by the NSA, and it came up blank. The man was honest, at least
when it cameto taxes.



His exemptions and records painted arather detailed picture of hislife. For onething, Sonny McGuiness
appeared to be quite the philanthropist. Over the years held given $100,000 to both the United Negro
College Fund and the Wildlife Fund, $200,000 dollarsto the Paralyzed Veterans of Americaand over
$300,000 to Brigham Y oung University's archeol ogy department.

Kaylasanger grew. She checked her watch—>5:12 am. She was running out of time. She had booked a
6:45 am. flight to Sdt Lake City, and she didn't want to head out there completely empty-handed.

While Sonny'sfinancid picture was notable, it didn't give Connell anything to work with. Connell needed
blackmail information, not areport on Saint Sonny. She abandoned the financia strategy, instead setting
the tax-sniffer program to hunt up information on Herbert Darker. Leaving that routineto runin the
background, she moved on to seeif Sonny had acrimina record. A quick scan of al nationa and state
police databases turned up quite alist.

Bingo. Hopefully thiswould be what Connell needed. Her heart leapt when she saw afelony conviction,
but it sank again as she noted the year. The old prospector had served atwo-year stint in Ryker'sfor
assault and battery, but that wasin ‘75 and * 76, almost thirty years ago.

She continued to fume as she read through the other seven entries on hisrap sheet—all arrestsfor
solicitation of progtitutes. For aman who listed hislegd residence in Reno, Nevada, shedidn't think a
patronage of the world's oldest profession would provide adequate blackmail materid.

Sow ragerosein her chest, awarm fedling that spread through her body. Sonny was clean, no
information worth Connell'stime.

The computer beeped, indicating it had finished searching Herbert Darker'sfile. Sheimmediatey cdled it
up and read through the long list of tax information. Her anger subsided as her smile widened.

8:23am. (10:23EDT)

"Honey, hurry up or I'm going to be late,” Herbert said. He stood at the bottom of the stairs, looking into
the kitchen. Hiswife Angie busly stuffed matching Tupperware containersinto acloth lunch bag.
Herbert's company had grossed amost amillion dollarsthat fiscal year, but he ill couldn't bring himself
to buy lunch. After ten years of struggling to build his own business, the frugd habits established in the
early dayswereimpossibleto break.

A high-pitched scream of attack ripped through the house; Herbert braced himself as his son launched off
the third-to-last stair and landed on Herbert's back. Herbert let out a smal whuff and stumbled forward.
Lukewas getting bigger and stronger every day; pretty soon the daily Attack from the Stairs would send
Herbert sprawling across the entryway's Spanish tile floor.

"Takeit easy, Luke,” Herbert said with asmdl laugh. “Y ou're going to kill your dad one of these days.”
L uke squeezed Herbert's shoulderstightly. “1 wouldn't kill you, Daddy, | loveyou."

Herbert smiled and lowered his oldest son to the ground. Angie hurried over with the cloth lunch sack in
her left hand and his youngest son, Mark, clutched awkwardly in her right arm. Mark was a so getting
big-soon held probably be joining his brother in the kamikaze stair attacks.

"Thanks honey,” Herbert said, giving her akiss, then planting akiss on Mark's forehead.

The phone rang just as Herbert walked out the door. He stopped automatically as Angie answered it.
She held it toward him. He checked hiswatch, sighed, then grabbed the phone while Luke laughed and
climbed the stairsfor another attack.



"Hdlo?'

"Hiya, Herbert,” crooned awoman's sultry voice. “On your way to work?"
"Yes, | am, and I'm going to belate. Can | help you?"

"| sure hope s0,” the woman said. “I need to meet with you. Immediately.”
"Whoisthis?

"I've got sometax information you might beinterested in.”

Herbert froze. “ Excuse me?”

"I know about your taxes, Herbie. | know everything. | assume you want to talk to mein private, but |
can be at your house in five minutes, if you like. I'm sure your wife would love to hear what I've got to

sy.
Herbert felt acombined wash of rage and terror. “Did Kirkland send you?”
"Doesit redly matter?'

Herbert's heart raced with fear of discovery. Angielooked at him quizzically. “No, no that's quite all
right,” he said into the phone. “Where did you havein mind?'

"Pioneer Park. Y ou know whereit is?'
"Yes, | know."
"Ten minutes. I'm Ms. Smith. Look for the gray van."

The phone clicked as the woman disconnected. Herbert dowly set the phone down, fear dripping into his
soul.

8:35am.

The shrill ringing of the phone brought Sonny out of his semiconscious sate. While his body remained
exhausted from anight of amorous adventure with the exquisitely talented Chloe, his mind popped
ingtantly aert, ready for the day.

"YS’?I
"Mr. McGuiness?'

"Whoisthis?’" Sonny said, instantly suspicious. Hed told only one person—Herbert Darker—where he
was staying.

"Mr. McGuiness, my nameis Connell Kirkland. | represent acompany that would like to talk to you
about your find."

Connell “Cutthroat” Kirkland of EarthCore. Anybody who knew anything about the mining world knew
that name. Kirkland's rep preceded him; he was aman not to be trifled with.

"I'm flying into town and | hoped we could meet for dinner,” Connell said.

Sonny felt anger well up insde him like arocket warming up for launch. The only find hed had in over



two months was the Wah Wah site, and held only discovered that two days earlier. Only Herbert Darker
knew about that find. Had Herbert sold him out? Sonny'sfirst urge was to hang up, but he needed to
know the extent of the possible betrayal. He dso needed to know what information this Kirkland
character held. Besides, EarthCore had deep pockets. Whatever Kirkland offered, it would probably
prove agood starting-off point for open negotiations with other companies.

"Augustino's,” Sonny said. “Make the reservations for eight p.m. Ask for Sonny McGuinessstable.
Don't belate.” He started to get up, preparing to go out to Darker's and find out what the hell was up.
Asherose, ahand with long fingernailslightly scraped his back. He turned to see Chloe smiling up at
him, her caramel skin beautiful againg the white sheets, her lush lips dightly parted, her black eyes glinting
with sex.

Sonny's anger dissipated, replaced by morning lust. He had dl day, after all—Herbert wasn't going
anywhere.

841 am.

Kaylasat and waited. Sheld parked the gray, nondescript rental van under astruggling elm tree just
outside atypica suburban park. She checked her makeup in the van'srearview mirror. She still looked
damn good, if she did say so hersdlf, even though the only deep shed had was a brief catnap on the flight
out from D.C. The bags under her eyes showed through the makeup, but only dightly.

Sonny McGuiness might have nothing to hide, but Herbert Darker had acloset full of financia skeletons.
He'd pulled in $210,000 from Connell, one rat-out at atime. If the IRS found out about that unreported
sum, Herbert would be looking at adecade in prison at least. If she was going to come up with
something on McGuiness, shed haveto fabricateit. Darker was the only person who could help on such
short notice.

Herbert pulled up to the curb in his Cadillac. Ashe got out, Kaylaevauated him; five-foot-five, maybe
one hundred and fifty pounds, al the muscle of a Dachau victim. No visible weapons, poor coordination.
An easy mark.

She opened the van's diding side door and stepped out. The three-inch heel's on her black pumps did
into the grass, but only alittle. She saw Herbert's eyes widen. She couldn't blame him, as she'd dressed
to dicit just such areaction. Her loose cotton skirt barely hung below her ass, showing off strong legs.
The pumps only added to her five-foot, ten-inch frame. Her long, straight blond hair draped loosely
around her face and shoulders, framing emerald eyes and asultry smile. A hdter top showed plenty of
deeply bronzed skin aswell astoned arms, shoulders, and asmooth six-pack of abs. She flashed
Herbert apracticed smile and waved him forward. She saw his guard instantly drop. He was till angry,
but like atypica man, most of hisfear subsided when he laid eyes on a sexy woman. He was aman,
after al. And men weren't afraid of beautiful women.

He eyed her with asuspicious glare. “I have amessage for Kirkland. Y ou tell that asshole he crossed the
linewhenyou cdled my home."

Kaylaflashed alook across the park. The only kids present were at least fifty yards away, occupied with
the sandbox, paying no attention to the van or the adultsbeside it. Kayla still smiled at Herbert, then
reached back into the van. She pulled out a Taser. Herbert's eyes widened dightly, but before he had
timeto run or call out in surprise, ten thousand volts coursed through his body. Kayla watched Herbert's
body shudder and jerk from the el ectricity.

She cut the power and he fell forward. With practiced ease, she caught him on the way down and flipped
his short, light body over her shoulder. She effortlesdy tossed him into the van. Jumping in after him and



damming the door, she quickly rolled him on his stomach, then tied his hands and feet behind his back
with thin copper wire. Herbert moaned softly, incoherently, as Kayla buckled a bal-gag's |eather straps
around the back of his head.

Shedidinto the driver's seat and gunned the engine, smoothly pulling out of the park and down the
sreet. The kids never looked up from their summer play. Someone in the nelghborhood might have seen,
but Kaylawouldn't keep o’ Herb long. She zipped through the songs on her iPod—Cindi Lauper would
do nicely for the drive. Kaylatapped the steering whed intimeto “ Girls Just WannaHave Fun."

Herbert regained consciousness and started mumbling. The words seemed incomprehens ble through the
ball-gag, but Kayla had done this before—she had heard such words more times than she could
remember.

"Y ou want to know where I'm taking you, sunshine?’ Kayla asked, flashing a seductive smile over her
shoulder. “ Somewhere we can be done. Gotta ask you afew questions.”

Fear flashed on Herbert's face. Fear and incredulousness. Just like aman—take away control of any
gtuation, and they crumblelikelittle boys.

While shedidn't know Salt Lake City, she'd scouted the area before setting up the meeting with Herbie.
A vacant factory sat less than two minute's drive from the park. She pulled into the empty, weed-choked
parking lot and drove behind the building, out of sight from the main road. It wasn't agreet hiding place,
but she only planned on afifteen-minute encounter.

Shekilled the engine. It wastime to get to work. Cindy Lauper wouldn't do, she need some theme
music, something alittle more ... rocking. The thumbed the iPod's click-whed until the display read “The
Donnas—Take Meto the Backseet."

Kaylagrabbed her purse and did around to Herbert. He lay on his stomach, his hands and feet bound
behind him. A little blood trickled from hisleft wrist where the wire had cut into the skin.

"You and | aregoing to have alittle conversation,” Kaylasaid, kneding down in front of Herbert and
tenderly stroking hishair. “I need to get some information from you. If you're good, I'll let you go. If
you'renat, I'll kill you."

Herbert's eyes went wide with fear. He tried to say something, but the red ball of the gag blocked all
words. Kayladid around behind him and straddled his back, resting her crotch on Herbert's small ass.

From her purse she pulled apair of rust-speckled pliers. She could, of course, afford to buy new pliers,
but these had sentimental value. Back when the NSA 4till looked upon her asafair-haired child, shed
put the pliersto good use in Honduras, Kuwait, Paris, Afghanistan, and evenin D.C. They were
supposedly one of the reasons behind her dismissa. Thetruth, however, wasthat the“men” inthe NSA's
positions of power viewed her asathreat. André Vogel, the NSA director, had sacrificed her for
political gain, made her a scapegoat in order to advance his career. “Made an examplée’ of her, held said.
Voge smply found away to get rid of her because her continued success and unfailing patriotism
undermined his control—if it hadn't been for “excessiveforce,” he would have created some other
fabrication. Sheld loved the NSA, madeit her life. And now she put the pliersto use in the private sector,
for neither God nor Country, but only for money. It was o unfair, so empty.

But agirl sill had to pay the bills.

She knew the pliers, knew every nook and cranny, every rust spot, every scratch. The engraved words
kmart drop forged (japan) showed on the handle. Thetip was good for thingslike ripping lips off of faces



and pulling tongues from throats.

Thepliers best feature, in her expert opinion, were the four pointed “teeth” just behind thetip. They
were designed to let you get a nuts and bolts, give you agood grip on such things. They aso happened
tofit nicely around fingers.

Around knuckles, to be precise.

She did the cool pliers around Herbert's knuckle, where the pinkie met the hand. Without aword, she
sueezed with practiced strength. A loud crunching sound ripped through the van, like atree branch
breaking under the weight of wet snow. Herbert threw his head back and screamed.

Histhrashing sent atingling jolt through her body. Her skin felt eectric, so sengtive she could fed her
skirt diding across her thighs.

Herbert pulled at hisrestraints, but the wire only dug further into his skin. He stopped fighting and stayed
gtill, but kept screaming. His body trembled with fear—Kaylas bresthing came in short, shallow pants.
She could fed the blood coursing through her body.

Kaylastroked his hair. He sounded loud, but she knew from experience that such screamswere
practicaly inaudible outside the van. He started crying, till trying to mumble through the ball-gag. She
recognized these words aswell.

"Why?" Kaylasaid, echoing his question as she did the pliers up to the second pinkie knuckle. “I'll tell
yOou soon enough, sweet thing.”

With asnarling smile and asigh of passion she crunched the knuckle. Herbert thrashed his head and his
screamsfilled the van. Kayla's eyes sparkled with ddlight.

She used the pliersto cut the wires and free hiswrigts, then rolled him over like alimp rag doll. Hetried
for her throat, but one grab and shake of his broken, swollen pinkie ended al thoughts of resstance. As
his face screwed into amask of agony, she camly re-wrapped the wire, binding his hands over his
somach.

Tears and snot streaked hisface. Bleary eyeslooked up at her with mindlessincomprehension. In less
than ten minutes, he'd gone from amesting in asunny park to a helplesstorture victim.

She straddled him again, then reached down and unsnapped the ball-gag. It popped from his mouth and
hung off hisleft cheekbone, athick strand of spit running from the rubber to hislower lip.

"Pease sop!” hesad. “Please!”

Kaylastroked hishair once again, wiping the tears from hiseyes. “1 need some dirt on Sonny
McGuiness™"

Confusion filled Herbert's face.

"I need to blackmail him. I know you've got something | can use.”

"Use? Blackmail 7’ Herbert sammered. “1 don' ... | don't know anything like that.”

"Y ou'd better come up with something,” Kaylasaid sweetly. “Or I'll do another knuckle."

Sobsracked hisvoice, each word following a sharp, snot-filled intake of breath. “You ... crazy ... fucking
.. bitch!"



Kaylaheld up the pliers so he could see them clearly. His eyes shot open and his crying ceased
immediadly.

"Wait asecond, just give me asecond, okay? I've got something, | swear."

Kaylawaited, |etting Herbert think. She watched him blink furioudy, asif hiseyeids were mental
speedometers.

"Okay,” hesaid inarush. “ There was thismine afew years ago. The Jorgensson mine. Sonny discovered
itand sold it but it went bust. Y ou could say he knew it would run dry but he sold it anyway..."

Herbert babbled for severa minutes, the sound of abroken man begging for hislife. The subservient tone
of hisvoice caressed Kayla, adding to the dectricity coursing through her body. She pulled a notebook
from her purse and scribbled down the information, smiling the wholetime. Thiswas exactly what she
needed.

He aso babbled about Sonny's new site, anything to keep her from reaching for the pliers. The words
billion-dollar find rang loudly in Kaylasears.

She placed the notebook back in her purse. When shefinished with Herb, sheld hit the computers and
get dl the necessary details. Connell would have hisinformation, and by hisridiculous deadline.

Damn you're good, girl.

Kayla stiroked his hair one more time, then did into the driver's seat and started up the van. She checked
her watch: Sheld snagged him, bagged him, broken him, and got the needed info in less than fifteen
minutes. Not her personal best, but pretty damn close.

The gray van pulled away from the empty factory.

* * % %

Kaylapulled up behind Herbert's Cadillac, then cut the copper wire around Herbert'swrists and feet.
She handed him a clean white towe to clean up hiswounds. Aside from the broken pinkie, he had only
minor cutson hiswrist. All inal, it was apretty clean job, one that wouldn't draw an ounce of suspicion
when Herbert went to the doctor and gave some excuse for the pinkie.

Kaylasmiled—true to her word, she hadn't put anybody in awheelchair.

She opened the van and helped him out. His shoulders dumped and his head hung low, aman brokenin
spirit and body. He reminded her of an old balloon, saggy and half-deflated.

This, Kaylathought, was the true essence of any man.

"Now, I'm goingto let you go,” she said. “And you're going to keep your trap shut. If you dont, I'll give
my info to the IRS, and then I'll come for your sons."

Herbert's head snapped up, pain suddenly forgotten, the spark of defiance back in his eyes. Perhaps
there was a backbone in there after all.

"Let'sjust say little Markie and little Lukie will never play theviolin again.” She dowly opened and closed
the pliers. The metal squeaked like ababy bird caling for food. “Y ou understand?’

He nodded quickly, pain still in his eyes, but suppressed for the moment.
She dways threatened the kids. They were better than the wife or the husband, because you never knew



who would prefer their spouse tortured and dead. Threaten the children and people listen. In ten years
using that theory, she'd only had to keep her promise once. Just once. And that one time had ended her
NSA career.

Kaylafdt arush of that familiar anger at the man who'd drummed her out of the NSA. Not a day went
by when she didn't think of it. She shook her head and tried to push the thought away. Water under the
bridge. Y ou can't go home again. Shetried to think of some other folksy sayingsto console hersdlf.

Besides, shewas very good at her job. Herbert had provided excellent information. Perhaps she needed
to find out more, seeif there was away to profit from such afind.

She clicked the iPod and the stereo blared Lacuna Coil's“Heaven's A Li€’ as she pulled away. Sheld
never before pried into Connell's mattersfor her own gains, but thistime was different. Thislooked like
the big medl ticket. “A billion-dollar find,” Herbert had said. The mining industry paid top dollar for
information like that—companies with platinum minesin particular. Somehow thiswhole Situation was
going to pan out for KaylaMeyers. Pan out in abig way.

9:15 p.m.

Sonny was seething ingde, but it didn't stop him from enjoying his second Alaskan king crab. He cracked
open athick claw and dipped the white meat in succulent butter sauce. He didn't know what Augustino's
put in the sauce, but it was his favorite among the hundreds of four-star restaurants that knew himon a
firs-name basis. Despite his anger, Sonny wasn't about to let the Stuation spoil hisdinner. Especidly
when someone el se was picking up the tab.

The generous young man paying for the expensve med sat acrossthetable. Thetal youngster with curly
black hair looked calm, relaxed, patient. He wore asuit, but it was frumpy and even outright wrinkled in
places. It reminded Sonny of something Peter Falk worein that old Columbo show. Connell Kirkland
obvioudy wasn't atypica mining corporation executive, not at al what Sonny was used to. The
executive's appearance, however, was of little concern at the moment.

The most pressing question was how fast this man had made contact—I ess than twenty-four hours after
Sonny picked up the sample testing results. After sending Chloe home with ageneroustip, Sonny went
looking for Herbert but wasn't surprised that the backstabber hadn't beenin al day.

Herbert's betrayd infuriated Sonny. That kind of thing just wasn't done; it was the very reason Sonny
aways hid hisfinds and dways had his samplestested at the same place. Apparently that Srategy had
paid off. If Sonny had given Herbert the find'slocation, Kirkland and his company would aready be
greasing thelocd poaliticians and buying up the property rights.

"Interestin’ that you know of that find, Mr. Kirkland,” Sonny said between mouthfuls of crab. “I hadn't
told many people—how'd you discover it?"

Conndll stared hard for amoment, expression never changing, then answered. “Let's cut the bullshit, Mr.
McGuiness. I'm not going to play gameswith you and | hope you're not going to play them with me. Y ou
know damn well where | got the information. How you handle that aspect of the Stuationisup to you, |
redlly don't care. Theimportant thing isthat | know of your find, | want it, and | want it before anyone
elsefinds out about it."

Kirkland's abruptness surprised Sonny. Company men were usudly smiles and compliments and bullshit.
Thisguy was dl busness. Conndll struck Sonny asthe kind of man who'd sl his own mother to a
Bangkok whorehouse if she could turn aregular profit.



"That would be expensive,” Sonny said after washing his crab down with abig swig of milk. He never
drank during business. He knew better than to lose his wits around people like Conndl Kirkland.

"How expengve, Mr. McGuiness?'

Sonny took another big bite, using the napkin held tucked into his shirt collar to dab at some butter
running through his beard. He chewed thoughtfully, staring right back at Connell. A small smile played
mischievoudy at the wrinkles around Sonny's eyes.

"Fifteen million.” He took another bite of crab. He'd expected the number to shock the executive, at least
alittle. Conndl's gaze never fluttered.

"Perhapsif you owned the land and the minerd rights, wed play with that number,” Conndll said. “But
you own neither. And we both know that if you tried to buy them, we'd outbid you instantly and you'd be
left with dick. Let's not bother talking about claim-jumping and other legdities. EarthCore's lawyers have
twenty years experience beating casesjust like thisone. WEII pay one million dollars.

Sonny kept chewing, but felt hisanger risng. He didn't notice atiny bit of crab meat that perched on his
beard, jiggling with each syllable. “ Y ou listen to me, you little fuck. Y ou wannaplay tough?I'll goto a
dozen other companies with what I've found and start abiddin’ war that will make you bend over, grab
your ankles and beg meto fuck your assif | give you the origind price. Fifteen million iswhat I'm askin’
and someonewill pay it. Y ou want the Site? Fine, then you're gonnaplay by my rules. | been handlin’
people like you since before you was atinglein your daddy's little pecker.”

"Oh?’” Connell said. A smile of hisown peeked out. “ Somehow | doubt that you've ever dealt with
someonelikeme"

"Forget it, Kirkland. I'm contacting Impala Platinum and the Stillwater company first thing tomorrow
morning. | know damn well what I've got, and I'm putting it up on the open market. The only person who
will know the location isthe one who pays the most money, so your lawyer friends won't have any
chanceto jump the clam. If you want to play bdl, fine, but you're going to haveto bid onit just like

everybody dse."
Conndl | nodded, then pulled some papers from a briefcase and did them across the table.

"Take alook at that, Mr. McGuiness,” Conndl said, the smile gone from hislips. “Y ou'll seethat your
friend Mr. Darker was very helpful to us. Remember the gold find you sold to the Jorgensson Mining
Cooperativein 1994?Y ou know, the one that netted you six hundred and fifty thousand dollars? The
onethat went bust when theinitia high-grade ore gave out after only amonth of mining?"

"| don't guarantee my findsl” Sonny'sforkful of crab bounced like a pointed finger, shaking & Connell
with each word. * Everybody knowsthey're paying for alocation, that'sit! 1've been doing business that
way for twenty-five years."

"Yes, of course, Mr. McGuiness,” Connell said camly. “But in front of you is a statement from Mr.
Darker saying that you knew the vein was smdll and that the ore grade was too low to be profitable
beyond the first hundred-thousand tons. According to Mr. Darker, you knew damn well that the mine
wasalemon, yet you sold it anyway."

Sonny's eyes widened with fury and his jaw dropped, the tiny piece of crap il clinging precarioudy to
his beard. He'd done an honest trade for decades. Never screwed anybody. People knew the risks when
he sold alocation. No stewas asure thing. That was part of the game.



"I didn't know any such thing, you stupid fuck!” Sonny stood up abruptly, his chair scooting backward
and faling on the floor. Other diners cast disapproving glanceshisway. “ The ore | found near the surface
was very rich. They agreed with my findings and that's why they bought the location!"

"That's not what Mr. Darker will say in court, after | passthisinformation on to the Jorgensson people,
Mr. McGuiness."

Connell maintained a blank expression, while Sonny's wrinkled face betrayed murderous rage. Sonny
knew, now more than ever, that thisfind was the big one, the proverbial mother lode. Blackmail wasa
risk, abig risk, and people didn't play thiskind of cock-out hardball unless the payoff wasworth such a
risk. Morethan likely it was the biggest find of Sonny'slong career—and now this gawky, blank-faced
sonofabitch wanted to stedl it.

If Sonny had been twenty years younger held have tossed the table aside and smashed Connell's nose
likeit were aripe tomato. But those days were gone—at sixty-two he still worked the mountains better
than men athird hisage, but brawling wasn't askill that had followed him into his golden years.

"Mr. McGuiness, please cam down,” Conndll said, hisexpresson now full of understanding. “1'm not
going to use this on you unless you force my hand. We both know it's bullshit, but that doesn't meatter.
Jorgensson lost millions on that dedl, and if they think out you knew the mine was alemon, they'll come
after you with both barrels blazing. They'll want to make an example of you. With your prison record,
you know you'll end up injail. Now save us sometime with the‘I'm innocent’ and ‘that charge will never
stick’ crap because we both know you're fucked.”

Sonny bubbled over with anger, but nodded in agreement. HeE'd been outplayed before he even knew the
game was on. Connell had come |oaded for bear. He knew of the Jorgensson mine and he knew of
Sonny's prison term. The concept of prison brought the Situation home; held rather be screwed than risk
another int injail, away from open skies and sprawling landscapes. Like Mama aways said, a smart
man knows when he'slicked.

"What | want to do isnegotiate afair price,” Conndl sad. “Fifteen million dollarsisridiculous. I'll admit,
soisonemillion, so why don't we meet somewhere in the middle? | just happen to have the upper hand
thistime. You're dill going to make agreet ded of money and you'll till have your vacation in Rio, so
let'sjust relax and talk business.”

Sonny sat down and resigned himself to getting the best dedl he could.

"I'll give you one million dollars up front, cash,” Conndll said. “And I'll give you two percent of the net
profit for thelife of themine."

Sonny'sjaw dropped. Hed never before had a permanent piece of the action. If thisminewasdl it
seemed to be, two percent could eventually make $15 million look like monopoly money. Connell held
all the cards and they both knew it—he didn't have to offer a piece of the pie. With that bit of
graciousness, most of Sonny's anger quickly faded away.

"Ligten, Kirkland,” Sonny said leaning forward acrossthe table. “If you think that I'm gonnasit and wait
for the checksto comein, you're crazy."

"What are you saying, Mr. McGuiness?'

"I want to bethere. | don't trust you alick, which I'm sure don't surprise you none. If you want the
location, then I'm there every step of the way and | see every financia that crosses your desk. | want full
access to the books for thisentire project, so | know what the real net profitis.”



"That's not going to happen.”
"Then | guessI'm going tojail,” Sonny said, and leaned back in his chair.

Connell amply stared, that same impenetrable, blank expression covering hisface, hiding histhoughts.
Sonny'd seen alot of cold men in hisday, but he couldn't remember anyone as unreadable as Kirkland.
Sonny had no doubt, however, that Kirkland could read him like abook. Sonny was best, but he wasn't
going to lie down. He was till the only one who knew the location, and with that knowledge he had
power. Jail or nojail, hewasn't going to let Conndl win every hand in thisgame.

"l cant say | blameyou,” Connell said plainly.
"I'm there. | need to beinvolved.”

"It'sagaingt company policy, Mr. McGuiness, but in your case | guess we have to make an exception.”
Connéell said. “Cometo think of it, | understand you're somewhat of an expert onthe area.”

"Know it better than you know the folds on your cock, mister.”

"Could you research the site for us? We need to know everything that's gone on in that area, know if
anyone has dug there no matter how far back. Any information we get on the areamakes our job easier.
And more profitable.”

"I cantell you everything that happened there sincethelast ice age,” Sonny said, asneer on hisface. “All
| needisalittletime.

"That youve got, Mr. McGuiness,” Conndll said with awinning smile. “That you've got.”

To sed the dedl they spent the rest of the evening getting incredibly drunk and incredibly obnoxious.
When they werefinaly thrown out at 1:00 am. Sonny looked forward to participating in the mine's
success—the fact held been blackmailed dl but forgiven.

Drunk off hisass, however, heforgot oneimportant fact. With the dedl, hedd placed himsdlf in asituation
he'd sought to avoid. He had to return to that mountain, the dead mountain where animals had the good
sense not to tread.



Chapter Six
August 5, 2.59 am.

Conndll turned sdewaysin hisdeep, hislong legs hanging off the sde of the Motel 6 bed. A amile graced
hislips. A smilefor hiswife. If anyonewho knew him could have seen him & that moment, they'd
probably have been shocked to see that expression on Connell Kirkland's face.

The smile suddenly vanished, replaced by face-scrunched fear. He kicked at the sheets, thrashing about
in the bed, his head shaking back and forth in aviolent “no-no-no."

He awoke screaming, hands flailing and knocking the bedside lamp across the room. The cheap
porcelain body shattered againgt the pumping air conditioner. He sat up, somach heaving as he gasped
for breath, and wearily rested hishead in his hands.

The glowing red numbers of the darm clock read 3:02 am.—6:02 am. Detroit time. Since hewas
aready awake, he might aswell get cracking. He didn't want to bother with a shower, but the stink of
fear clung to his sweaty body. He rinsed quickly, toweled off, and tossed on his suit, which had been
cardesdy flung on thefloor, tie still knotted loosaly around the empty shirt collar. By thetime heleft the
hotel he had pushed the dream from hismind.

August 5, 8:27 am.

Sonny'sfirst duty as consultant was to apply his expertise and research the site'shistory. Herose a 8
am. with awake-up call from the front desk and sonofabitch of ahangover. He hoped Kirkland felt
worse. Ten minutes later afull breakfast came courtesy of room service. Sonny hadn't ordered the food,
but he ate it anyway. He checked out a haf-hour later only to find his hotel bill paid courtesy of
EarthCore. Keysto abrand-new rental Cadillac DeVille waited for him at the desk. Like the hotel hill,
the car was paid in full. Along with the keys came a package and a short note from Conndll Kirkland:
Get cracking—we have to act fast. I'll call you tomorrow at 5 p.m. for your first report.

Sonny opened the package: acell phone. Sonny pocketed the phone and walked to the Caddy, whistling
al theway, only to find adangerous-looking Asian man (Sonny couldn't be sure whether he was
Japanese or Korean, maybe ... ) leaning on the hood. Glossy black hair fell just short of his smiling black
eyes. Sonny immediately took in the man's perfectly tailored pants and his Gucci shoes—a sharp dresser
with expensve tastes.

"Good morning, Mr. McGuiness.” The man flashed asmile that could charm asnake out of itsskin. “I'm
Cho Takachi. Mr. Kirkland sent me."

"And what are you supposed to do, drive the car?'
"If youlike,” Cho said. “I'm hereto assst you in any way | can.”

"Kirkland is a sonofabitch and | don't need any assistance.” Sonny walked around to the driver side.
Cho let himsdf in the passenger door—with hisown key.

"If you don't need my assistance, then | get paid to sand around and do nothing,” Cho said, hisjovidity
undaunted. “ Easy money. That'sfine with me. I'm also here to make sure you don't back out on your
ded with EarthCore."

Sonny started the car. HE' never thought Conndl would hire a baby-gtter. Sonny sghed and resigned



himsdlf to the Stuation. Wasn't much he could do about it anyway, and judging from that chrome-plated,
pearl-handled .45 peeking out from under Cho's jacket, Sonny didn't want to push the situation.

"Fine” Sonny said. “Just onething; stay the hdll out of my way. | don't trust fuckhead company goons
likeyou."

"No problem,” Cho said with acharming grin. “1 don't trust dirty, wrinkled-up, little-old-asshole
prospectors, o | empathize with your situation.”

Sonny blinked afew timesin surprise, then put the car in gear and amiled alittle himself.
Heliked this Cho Takachi aready.

The drive to Provo went amiably enough. Sonny discovered that Cho had served in the Marines for four
years. After hearing afew details of Cho's servicetour in Irag, Sonny decided held much rather have
Cho for afriend than an enemy.

Hungry for discovery, they went straight to the Brigham Y oung University library. Cho proved to bea
highly educated and eager assstant right from the sart.

Prospecting for information was nothing new to Sonny. He'd researched hundreds of old minesand
depleted areasin hisday. It was valuable to know who found what and how they found it, aswell as how
long it lasted and what extraction methods were last used. A veinthat “ran dry” in 1914 could be
reworked with leaching or strip-mine techniques made possible by modern technology. If you found one
of these veins, bought up the worthless property and then sold it to a mining company, you stood to
make atidy profit. Time and time again Sonny had scooped the young prospectors. Their fancy
equipment often overlooked the obvious—it's much easier to find an old mine than to discover anew
ven.

In researching his mountain, he started with the computer indexes, everything from booksto periodicals.
Hedidn't find diddly. There was probably more written about the boys-gymnasium shitter than that area
of Utah. It wasamost asif the peak didn't exist to the generd public. It didn't even have aname. Tourists
didn't vigit. There was no water; nothing but rocks, sand, and devilish terrain. Only experienced campers
ventured into the hills.

When the infernal machines known as computers proved useless, Sonny led Cho to the library'sredl
mother lode of information—bound volumes of long-dead ghost-town newspapers. Many towns popped
up during the booming days of Nevada's Comstock Lode in the 1860s. Those towns depended on the
surrounding mines. When the mines dried up, so did the towns.

In any American smal town, one can usudly find leether-bound tomes containing old issuesthat often
date asfar back as acentury or more. For ghost towns, it wasn't so easy. Many of the dead papers
back issues were bound, but you had to track them down. Theirreplaceable historica volumes could
wind up just about anywhere (Sonny had once found vital issues of the Sand Spring Recorder, a paper
from adead town in central Utah, in aprivate library in Laramie, Wyoming).

History faded away, and no one—not even those born and raised in the area—knew anything about the
majority of the minesthat had once dotted the desolate landscape. Much of the information sat lonely and
waiting in those ghost-town newspapers. A newspaper was abig part of mining town life in those days. If
anew mine returned anything, readers wanted to know. They aso wanted to know what areas were hot;
“rushes’ to anew ste were as common asthe sunrise.

Sonny'sfirst guess for any mining news concerning the Wah Wah stewasthe Slver Reef Gazette.



Silver Reef was afamous ghost town about eighty miles south of where held discovered the platinum
dust. Eighty milesthrough the rocky desert flats congtituted at |east atwo-day ride, and that wasif a
sgnglerider really pushed ahedthy horse. Any kind of wagon could count on athree- or four-day ride.
The Gazette carried locd stock exchange information and news regarding the hundreds of mining
corporations that sprang up in Southwest Utah, Northwest Arizona, and even into Nevada.

After 9x hours of squinting at yelowed and faded old newsprint, Sonny finaly found something useful
from May 10, 1865.

Jessup stekes claim in Wah Wah area
By Stosh Wittendon

Jebadai ah Jessup, who produced very successful claimsin Nevada and in the Wasatch Mountains, has
staked aclaim in the remote Wah Wah range.

We see claims staked everywhere these days, but this reporter was surprised to seeaclaimin the
northern Wah Wah Mountains. There have been only two or three decent prospecting excursionsto that
area, and nothing has ever turned up. Many think that Jessup may be onto something. The town holdsits
breath waiting for him to return with thefirst cartloads of ore. Some motivated prospectors have aready
headed out to that area, hoping they can get ajump on the competition should Jessup's hunch proveright.

If Jessup discovers anything of substance, it might require construction of anew town. Jessup'sclamis
87 miles north of Silver Resf, too far for trangportation of ore when there are no trails or decent areas on
which to build them.

The story surprised Sonny. Eighty-seven miles north of Silver Reef would have put Jessup within amile

of where Sonny discovered the spring. In fact, less than amile. Platinum was almost unheard of in those
days. It often occurred aongside gold deposits, but many minersthrew away the platinum because they
didn't know what it was and only wanted the gold. Before 1900 or so, most recovery processes lost up
to 99 percent of the oré's value, and often lost dl the platinum group metals.

The more he thought about it, however, the more it made sense. If the spring Sonny discovered was
bigger back in 1865, there would have been a good-sized stream to pan. Jessup may have found that
very same spring—or one similar to it—and staked aclaim.

Sonny found the next entry regarding the mine on August 24, 1865. Jessup had apparently returned to
Silver Reef with abag of dugt, only to find histreasure-trove wasn't asit seemed.

Wah Wah gtefull of “fool'sslver”
Jessup claima wash

Will continueto dig the area

by Stosh Wittendon

All the speculation surrounding the mysterious Wah Wah site staked by Jebadaiah Jessup has cometo an
end. Jessup arrived in town yesterday with 10 pounds of dust, which he took to loca chemist Elron
Wyrick for analysis. Wyrick told a disappointed Jessup that the dust was not silver, as Jessup had
thought, but platinum. Wyrick commented that it's rare to find such high quantities of platinum.

Jessup declined to comment on the development, which is no surprise, considering that he wantsto keep
his site secret. Jessup has worked his clam for three months, and rumor hasit he haskilled two men



defending it. Mining parties are aready forming, bent on probing the Wah Wah Mountainsfor smilar
platinum depodts.

Wyrick is sending acable east to find abuyer for the platinum. Such alarge amount will bring atidy sum,
but, unlike gold, demand for platinum exists only in the metropolitan centers of the East. Wyrick
advanced Jessup money to buy mining equipment, dynamite and lumber for square-set supportsof a
future underground mine. Jessup aso hired a crew of ten men to work the Site.

Sonny's mouth went dry.
"A ten-pound bag?’ Cho said. “How much would that be worth today?"
"About a hundred and thirty thousand big ones.”

Cho let out along whistle. Sonny flipped through the pages. Like a sogp-operajunkie left hanging &t the
end of aFriday episode, Sonny couldn't wait to read of Jessup's fortune. He wanted to get back to the
gpring and do some panning himsalf. Maybe pull out afew more pounds of dust, especidly before
Connell got his paws on the site.

Sonny's excitement chilled when he read the next entry, dated November 30, 1865. The story of the
Jessup mine suddenly changed from minor coverage to front-page news with thick, black, screaming
heedlines

Murder at Jessup mine

Two dead, eight missing, victims of madness
Jessup to hang tomorrow morning

by Stosh Wittendon

It seems that mining madness ran amok last week, claiming more than its usud share of victims.
Jebadai ah Jessup butchered at least two of his own men. Eight more men are missing and presumed
dead.

Chuck Wierenski of Chuck's Feed & Grain was on his normal supply run to the Jessup mine. Wierenski
found Jessup wandering in the desert, about three miles from the mine.

"Jessup was ranting on and on about mongters,” Wierenski said. “He said these demonskilled his crew.
He had a pretty bad cut on hisarm and was bleeding al over the place. He was clutching this strange
knifein hishand."

Wierenski brought the madman back to town, where Sheriff Tate took over. Tate locked Jessup in the
jail and mounted a posse to head out to the mine. Tate returned this morning, telling agrim tale of murder
and insanity.

"There were no mongters, only dead men,” Tate told me when he arrived. “Jessup must have killed them.
We found two bodies. They'd been hacked up a bit before they ran out into the desert, where they died.”

Tate was unable to locate Jessup's mining camp, and now specul ates that Jessup lied on hisofficia claim
registry to protect the location of hismine. Tate said he found nothing at the official campsite, and no
evidence acamp ever existed there. Wierenski refusesto travel to the mountain ever again, dueto fears
of an Indian curse.



Thisreporter has rendered pictures of the strange curved knife below. The knifeisasolid piece of metd.
Its maker isunknown.

The sketch showed the curious murder weapon. There were two crescents, joined back-to-back and
off-set alittle, so that the knife made aloose, pointy “S’ shape. An open circle sat in the middle of that S,
where the two crescents merged into one piece of meta. Sonny had never seen anything likeit.

"L ooks like homeboy went alittle off hisrocker,” Cho said, reading the article over Sonny's shoulder.
The story shocked Sonny, and not because of the murders. Taes of murder in the golden age of mining
were so common that many killings barely merited a paragraph in the local paper. In some townsthings
grew so out of control that there was at least one murder aweek. Men often killed in the hills, either to
protect amine or because they just went crazy. Monthsin the desert, feverishly digging through the
rocks, running out of food and water, fending off attacks by Indians and, more often, by claim
jumpers—all of these things often drove men over the edge.

Thething that bothered Sonny was the feding held had while on that cursed mountain, when he'd found
the spring. Something felt wrong there, something felt ... evil. Hewondered if Jessup had felt the same
thing, so many years ago.

Sonny rubbed his eyes. He had to pass thisinformation on to Connell, and he had to get out soon and
find the actud location of the Jessup mine.

5:08 p.m.

Conndll opened up abrowser window and typed in “ earthcore.biz/intranet.” He typed in hislogon and
password, then started calling up information on one of EarthCore's key employees. Now that Connell
had the location of Sonny's* Silver Spring,” the real work could begin. The entire areasurrounding
Sonny's discovery needed to be examined with afine-toothed scientific comb in order to find the
platinum dust's source. Connell trusted only one man to properly execute the vita task.

While EarthCore had no less than five certified geniuses on the payroll, Angus Kool sat atop the heap.
Conndll had hired Kool sight unseen three years ago, right after the scientist procured histhird Ph.D. at
the age of twenty. Within ayear, Kool was named EarthCore's top scientist and placed in charge of the
company's research divison.

Conndll hadn't set foot in any of EarthCore'slabsin over four years, since before Cori died. It wasn't as
if his presence was needed. Under Angus's control, the department clicked like afinely tuned
machine—though perhaps awd|-disciplined Nazi SS squad was a morefitting analogy. Kool ranthelab
with dictatoria hand and demanded perfection from his underlings, some of whom were more than twice
hisage.

McGuinesssfind required immediate anayss, which meant Kool needed to bein the lab ASAP. Connell
caled up EarthCore's master personnd schedule, only to find Kool on vacation—yet again—thistime
caving in Montana. The man didn't just study geology, helived it, traveling to dl corners of theworld
gpelunking. Wild blood pumped through Kool's veins. He was an adrenaline junkie who arrogantly
demanded over three months of vacation each year for daredevil stuntslike mountain climbing, skydiving,
base-jumping and jungle canoe excursons—but mostly for speunking. Connell wasn't surprised to hear
Kool was out, but he needed the man in Detroit. Now.

Theitinerary showed that Kool was on vacation with Randy Wright, another of EarthCore's big-brained
scientists. Randy was Anguss little adrenaine-addicted sidekick. Wright had been at EarthCore agood
ten years. Maybe he could share some wisdom with Angus. Conndll didn't redly care what it took, as
long asthey were both back to the office tomorrow morning.



* * % %

When Angus Kool and Randy Wright emerged from the Dunston Caves in Montana, mud covered them
from head to toe in athick brown dime. That mud dried on the drive back to the hotdl, and by the time
Anguswaked into the lobby, chunks were flaking off him with every step. He could have wiped himself
off like Randy had, but he enjoyed seeing the look of disgust on the hotel manager'sfat face.

Plebeian, Angusthought. If all his mind can focus on isallittle dirt on his carpet, then he deserves
some aggravation.

Angus wa ked to the front desk and banged his hard hat on the counter, sending chunks of dried mud
scattering across the countertop. The manager's face swelled with bardly repressed anger as Angus
wiped thefilth from the side of hiswhite plastic helmet, reveding a plethora of Peanuts stickers, mostly
Snoopy and Schroeder.

"Any messages?’ Angus asked with an innocent smile. The manager's name tag read Moe, something
Angusfound ever sofitting.

"Yesdr,” Moesaid through afailed attempt at asmile. “ A Mr. Conndll Kirkland called for you, said to
cal thisnumber immediately.” The manager held out a scrap of paper, which Angusignored.

"Hold al outside cdls,” Angus said with an arrogant wave of his hand as he walked away, leaving atral
of mud crumbsin hiswake.

* * % %

As Angus waked to the elevator, Moe stared hatefully at his back.
Randy brushed the countertop mud into aneat pile, then swept it into his upturned helmet.

"Sorry,” Randy said, an gpologetic smile on hisface. Black-framed glassed highlighted laugh-lined eyes.
He was s0 skinny the coverdls hung on him like the clothes of a prisoner of war. Sweat matted his
thinning black hair.

Moe looked down at the now semi-clean counter, then up at Randy's face. Randy was a short man, and
gtill agood two inchestaler than that red-haired pain in the ass that went by the name of “Dr. Angus
Kool."

"Thanks,” Moesaid dryly.

Randy shrugged and walked to the elevator, holding the helmet upside down o as not to spill any more
dirt on the lobby carpet.

Moe watched Randy enter the elevator. As soon as the doors closed, Moe unfurled the scrap of paper
and dided

Yeah, I'll hold all your calls, you pompous little piece of shit. He waited for the call to ring
through.

"Hdlo? Y es, connect meto Conndl Kirkland please. Hell want to spesk with meimmediately. Tel himiit
concerns AngusKoal."

* k x %

Angus entered hisroom and immediately stripped out of his coverdls, leaving him clothed in only swesty
underwear and agrimy T-shirt decorated with abig picture of adancing Snoopy. The coverals sat on
thefloor, acrusty pile of fabric and dirt.



A shower would be thething. A long, hot shower, clean dl thisdirt off and then find someplace with abig
greasy burger and greasier fries. He and Randy could plan out the next three days. They'd discovered a
new branch of the Dunston Caves. The branch wastiny, barely enough room to crawl through, but it

was new. Never before seen by man. They'd dithered through three hundred yards of thin mud to find it,
then explored agood fifty feet of the coffin-szed passage before turning back. There was no hurry; after
al, they had another three daysto explore. And if that wasn't enough, Anguswould just call in and
demand more vacation time.

The phone rang, breaking histhoughts. He answered it automaticaly.
"What'sup?’ he said, expecting to hear Randy.

"Angus Kool?" The voice was not Randy's. Angus remembered the message waiting for him at the front
desk. Hefelt hisanger rise at the manager, who'd obvioudy done this on purpose. Angus hated uppity
common people; they just weren't smart enough to see the big picture. Kind of like monkeys with voca
abilities

Angussighed. “Thisishe. If thisiswork, it had better be good.”
"It'swork, Mr. Kool, and it's damn good. Thisis Connd| Kirkland."

"Hello, Mr. Kirkland.” Angus hated to use the word mister with anyone, but if there was one piece of
corporate mythos he bdieved, it was that Kirkland was one bad mamma-jamma, someone you didn't
cross unless you were ready for a serious atercation. Of course, Kirkland was used to dealing with
businessmen, and that was afar cry from crossing swords with someone of Angus Kool's menta abilities.

"| just got in and was getting ready to cal you,” Angussaid. “What can | do for you?"
"I need you in Detroit immediately, Mr. Kool. We have a devel opment that demands your attention.”
"Immediately? But I'm on vacation.”

"We have amatter of mgjor importance to the company that needs your attention. Y ou are booked on
the 8:45 p.m. flight to Detroit out of Butte. Y ou will beonit.”

"Likehdl I will. Who do you think you are? What's the company going to do, fire me? | don't think so.
Whatever it iscan wait. I'm busy.”

"Y ou decide that for yourself, Mr. Kool,” Conndll said. “If you're not on that plane and back to work
tomorrow at eight am., you will bein agreat ded of trouble.”

"Oh puh-leeze. Come on, Mr. Kirkland. No one is going to fire me and you know it. If you canned me,
my consderable talents would be working for the competition insde of twenty-four hours. Asametter of
fact, that sounds pretty good right now. | think I'll sharpen up my resume and see what the big world has
to offer. What do you think of that, Mr. Big Stuff?"

Therewasabrief pause. Anguswaited for Kirkland'sinevitable backpedaing. Suits, after al, should
keep to their own petty little affairs and not bother theintdllectud dlite.

"If you think you can do better than EarthCore, be my guest,” Connedll said in aflat, cold voice. “But if |
were you, | wouldn't underestimate the power of one's reputation.”

"My reputation isflawless.”



"Isit, Angus? Funny, | have avery different perspective on things. And—I'd imagine—so might anyone
€lse who contacts me regarding your abilities. Or, for that matter, anyone else | should choose to contact
onmy own."

Angus sat down on the bed, his eyes narrow, hisnodirilsflaring. Could Kirkland redly trash hisrep?
Could he? Kirkland was alegend in the mining community, known as aruthless, no-holds-barred bastard
when it cameto acquiring Sites. He was dso known as a plain dealer once he had what he wanted. The
most important thing, of course, was Smply that he was known. Hewas aman with influencein thefield,
aman who might be able to sully even the stainless reputation of a purebred genius. No, he couldn't have
that much sway in the field. People would know anything Kirkland had to say was sour grapes, they
would know with but the briefest examination of the factsthat Angus Kool wasthe grestest mind of a
generation.

"Maybe I'll haveto take my chances,” Angussaid.

"Maybe you will, but | don't think that's in your best interest. Please don't be late tomorrow.” The
connection broke and the phone filled with the dial-tone drone.

The fact that Angus didn't dam the phone down was afeat of sdf-control. He ran his hands through his
dirty shock of coarse coppery hair. Hed been talked to, asafather might give hisson agood talking t
0. Ontop of that, hed been hung up on. The audacity was smply too much to grasp.

Who the fuck was this Kirkland, anyway? Some stupid executive who thought that an MBA wasa
measure of intelligence? Angus hated executives. HEd stack his three Ph.D.s up against amountain of
MBAsany day.

Hed fly homedl right. HEd storm right into Barbara Y akely's office and raise holy hell. If she didn't
know how her pet thug Connell Kirkland ran the business, hed fill her in. Conndl might be her favorite,
but she'd surely never let anyonetalk to Angus Kool that way. Never.



Chapter Seven
August 6, 8:39 am.

Angus Kool dammed open the lab door, hisface a narrow-eyed visage of rage. He seemed to leave an
amogt-visble contrail of emotion. Hed been talked to for the second timein two days. Only thistimeit
wasn't Mr. Big Stuff Connell Kirkland who did the talking to, it was Barbara Y akely. And her lecture
made Conndl's seem timid by comparison.

Hed stormed into the RenCen offices expecting Y akely to bend over backwards, and instead found out
she'd be more than happy to help out with Kirkland's dirty tricks. Angus no longer had any doubt who
wasin charge of EarthCore. Y akdly and Kirkland, in that order. Angus ranked third. A distant third.

Angus had never been second at anything in hislife, let donethird. It had been dl he could do to walk
out of her office without screaming, to leave the building without smashing something, to get in hiscar and
driveto thelab without suffering aburst of road rage.

He'd show them both. Sooner or later, he'd show them.

The gtaff watched him stomp through the [ab, leaving haughty indignance in hiswake. He headed straight
for his office, not volunteering aword to anyone. Thislab, hislab, was a place where he ruled, where he
caled the shots. To be summoned here, ordered around like an undergrad—it was insufferable. Angus
ripped open the door to his office, intending to dam it loudly behind him.

But there, Sitting on Angus's desk, was grim-faced Petrick O'Doyle. Angus froze for amoment, surprised
to see the burly man in his office. O'Doyle was EarthCore's security chief and al-around badass. Rumor
had it he was an ex-Green Beret. Rumor aso had it he'd been a secret government sniper, and that he'd
once whacked ahead of state in some third-world country.

O'Doylés piercing eyes seemed to hold little value for human life. He was big, alittle shorter than
Conndll's six-foot-four frame but much heavier, weighing perhaps 250 pounds. His burgeoning beer belly
stood as the only blemish on an otherwise thick and muscular frame. Each time O'Doyle moved, Angus
saw both the twitchings of muscle and thejigglings of gut.

Helooked old enough to be Angussfather. A thinning white crew cut covered a pinkish scalp. A mass
of scar tissue clung to where O'Doylé€'s right ear should have been. He had afreshly scrubbed
gppearance complete with an immeacul ate, wrinkle-free blue uniform. He gave Angustheimpression of a
two-legged, thick-necked, one-eared bulldog.

"Good morning, Dr. Koal,” O'Doyle said politely.

"What the hdll are you doing in my office?’” Angus suspected his angry tone wasn't quite as convincing as
he would have liked it to be.

ODoyledidn't answer. Instead, he handed Angus a printout of an e-mail.
To: podoyle@earthcore.biz
From: ckirkland@earthcore.biz

Re: Priority assgnment



A courier will hand-deliver aconfidentia report to you today. Give the report to Angus Kool. He will see
the considerable potentia in this report. | need him to make an immediate and thorough study of the area
listed. Thisishisonly project, everything seison hold. | authorize you to acquire whatever he needs
regarding equipment, resources, and time from existing staff. No outsiders.

—Kirkland

"Mr. Kirkland phoned me this morning and asked me to make sure you were here on time,” O'Doyle
said. Hisvoice was deep and thick, yet respectful. “Hell be pleased to know that you're early. I've been
permanently assigned to your department. No oneisto enter or leave without my knowledge, on orders
from Mrs. Yakdy. | know thiswill be an inconvenience, but no oneis alowed to take any materid out of
thislab until further notice. Should you work late, we've converted the east storage room into a
bunkhouse for the convenience of you and your staff. I'll stay out of your way asbest | can.”

Kooal's curiogty dominated hisimmediate anger at thisintrusion on hisauthority. Hed never seen anything
likethisin histhree years at EarthCore. What the hell was happening that could light such afire under
Conndl's ass? What could produce thislevel of urgency, or paranoia?

Asif to answer the thought, O'Doyle reached into his pocket, pulled out ajangling key chain, and
unlocked astedl briefcase dtting at hisfeet. He removed ared folder.

"Thisisthereport | wasinstructed to give you. Y ou areto read it and then give it back to me. No one on
your staff isto know about the contents. Y ou are instructed, by Mr. Kirkland, not to discuss detail s of
thisinformation with your staff, dthough he understlands you will have to have them work on various

aspectsof it.”

"What'sthisal about?” Angus asked as hetook the folder, his curiosity so strong the hairs on the back of
his neck stood on end.

"] don't know, Sr. I'm not authorized to look at it."

Angus opened the folder, hismind spinning a the militaristic, secretive overtones that had suddenly
engulfed hisjob. Itcontained ametalurgical anadysisreport. One glance at the report, and everything
suddenly became clear. Now he understood O'Doyl€e's presence, aswell as Kirkland's urgency and
threats. EarthCore was Stting on what could be the richest minein history.

The report's numbers shocked Angus. The sample was amost pure platinum mixed with iridium.
Naturaly occurring precious meta's contained impurities; even dust contained impurities—but not this
sample.

With the revolutionary techniques held recently developed, he could make amap of the very ground itself
and hopefully pinpoint the exact source of the dust. If that source proved to have any size whatsoever,
the profit margin could prove staggering.

"I'll need to contact Harrison Geo-surveying immediately,” Angus said. “We need their helicopters.”
"No outsiders,” O'Doyle said. “Mr. Kirkland was quite specific about that."

Angus stamped hisfoot. “But | haveto survey the areaimmediately!"

"Tel mewhat you need,” O'Doyle said camly.

"I need helicopters, at least two, and they need to be retrofitted with new equipment I've developed. And
they need to be the big cargo type.”



"Just give me a printout of what you need, and I'll make it happen.”

"l don't think you understand,” Angus said. “Weretaking a haf-million each. Kirkland going to authorize
thet?"

O'Doyle amiled patiently. “ Of course, gr. If you'd just give methe printout, I'll take care of it."

Anguslet out alow whistle. If Kirkland was spending that kind of money without batting an eyelash, he
was betting the proverbia farm on this project.

"I'll provide EarthCore employees as pilots and crew, sir,” O'Doyle said. “But you need to assign
technica peopleto run thetests. Mr. Kirkland asks that you assign your best people, your most trusted
people, to handle any fieldwork.”

Angus nodded, then turned quickly toward the lab. A strong hand on his shoulder stopped him before he
reached the door. Startled, he turned.

ODoyle offered apolite smile. “Y ou haveto leave thefilewith me, Sir."

Angus blinked afew times, not understanding, then looked down at the red folder in hishand. “Oh ...
sorry.” He practically threw thefolder at O'Doyle.

Eyes snapped up as he strode into the lab. He felt better, he felt like himself again. Here was a project
that would demand every ounce of hisgenius.

"Randy, saddle up! Y ou're heading to Utah."

* * % %

Sonny McGuiness and Cho Takachi continued to dig for background on the Wah Wah site. They'd spent
forty of thelast forty-eight hours buried among BY U's musty archives, digging their way through
countless yellowing newspapers, rare texts and research journals that were old before the computer was
even invented. Cho kept popping No-Doz, and Sonny ribbed him for violating Mormon rules against
caffeine

"It'sdisrespectful,” Sonny said. “We're at Brigham Y oung, for crying out loud.”

Cho looked exhausted. “What do you want from me, old man? Conndll didn't tell me I'd be up for two
daysdraight.”

Sonny laughed. “ So much for your ‘easy money,’ eh, kid?'

"Don't worry, it'snot like | haven't pulled al-nighters before. | wasamedic in the Marines, first class. |
went to med school after that.”

"Y ou're adoctor?'
"Was adoctor. For about ayear.”
"Whet the hell are you doing for EarthCore, then?"

Cho shrugged. “1 didn't like working in hospitals. Too much palitics, too much BS with insurance
companiesand dl that."

Sonny nodded. “Uh-huh. Y ou got sued, did you?'



Cho looked angry for a second, then broke into atired smile. “Y ou're pretty damn sharp for an old
wrinkled fossil. Yeah, | got sued.”

"And this must be so much more exciting than a boring old emergency ward,” Sonny said.

Cho shrugged and yawned. “Actudly, thisis pretty cool stuff. Now can we get back to work before |
pass out?"

Sonny hadn't found much more on the Wah Wah Mountains, let done the area of the platinum find.
People didn't write about it for much the same reason poets didn't wax romantic about a pile of cat
crap—the Wah Wahswere ugly and held little interest. Sonny did, however, find afew geologica
surveys of the area, mostly obscure research papers written by graduate students. One of these proved
immensdy interesting.

"Tunnel Systemsin the Lower Wah Wah Mountain Range,” was the name of a paper written by one
Samud J. Anderson in 1942. Sonny came across areference to Anderson while browsing through thick,
|eather-bound tomes of old Brigham Y oung student newspapers, the story describing the grad sudent's
discovery of cave formationsin the Wah Wah range. Sonny investigated central filing and found the
report—ypaper worn thin and spotted with mold—buried in arust-specked filing cabinet. It obvioudy
hadn't been read in decades. Many of the old research papers were il filed away, remnants from the
days when Brigham Y oung was asmall school and didn't have twenty thousand students.

Sonny only gave the report a cursory glance until he read the tunnd's location, which—if accurate—put
the cave lessthan amile northeast of the Silver Spring. That location also rested just over ahaf-mile east
of the Jessup mine coordinates. Anderson's cave was smack-dab in the middle of apair of platinum
finds

The report detailed Anderson's discovery of along passage located about five thousand feet up the side
of the mountain. He and hisfellow students followed one of the tunnels for around four hundred feet
before hitting an old cave-in that blocked further access. Anderson surmised that primitive people had
once lived in the caves; he based that theory on atool discovered deep in the tunnels.

Sonny's blood chilled as he read more on the tool. Anderson thought it worthy of little more than a
footnote compared to the geologica formations, but it did strike him odd enough to list a brief
description.

"Approximately seventy-five yardsinto the cave, we found aprimitive tool. It appearsto be ascraper,
perhaps, or possibly awegpon. It isametd blade, obviousy made by askilled craftsman, measuring
135" inlengthand 3.75” at the widest point. A crude, thin rope, mostly decomposed, wastied through a
hole in the blade where it met the central ring. The culture that created it was obvioudy very skilled at
working metd. The knife has ajagged edge on the outside curve, which has remained very sharp despite
stting in acave for who knows how long. The knife appearsto be stedl. The quality of work seems
excdlent, but not being an anthropologi<, 1'm sure that such artifacts such asthese are nothing out of the
ordinary. I'll turn it over to the anthropology department.”

Anderson's paper included a crude sketch of the blade. The nasty-looking, double-crescent shape
looked exactly like the murder weapon Jessup had used dmost eighty years earlier.

In the report, Anderson had written the number 32 next to the knife. A footnote reference. Sonny looked
at the footnote and found another number. He excitedly jotted down the number in his notes.

"What are you writing?’ Cho asked.



"Thislookslike an archive reference,” Sonny said. “I'll bet Anderson turned the knife over to the
anthropology department. In most museums they've got more stuff than they can ded with. Tons of
material isarchived. Y ou should see these sonofabitchin’ vaults—even the oldest museum workers don't
know what haf the suff isanymore.”

"So thisknifeisgill around?"
"Could be. Well check it out as soon as werefinished here.”
Cho threw Sonny aquizzicd look. “What's an archived knife got to do with mining?"

Sonny scratched absently at his beard. 1t was a good question. What did the knife of some long-gone
Indian tribe have to do with the platinum find? Probably nothing. But that didn't slop Sonny's curiosity. If
the knife existed, the same kind of knife Jessup used to daughter his men, Sonny smply had to seeit.

"Y ou never know,” Sonny said after along pause. “ That's twice thisweird knife has come up. | wanna
make sure we don't miss adamn thing."

"You certainly areapersstent old fart, Sonny,” Cho said with atired sigh.

"Watch and learn, boy. Y ou don't get to be as rich as me using good looks and along pecker—and you
an'tgot ether.”

Cho laughed as Sonny continued to pour over Anderson's paper. The report concluded by detailing
plansfor another excursion, scheduled for March 1942. Anderson had found a possible blockagein the
tunnels. Hefdt if he could clear it out, the shaft might extend farther into the mountain.

They found no other papers from Anderson. Sonny went back to the bound volumes of The Y News, the
college paper, starting with March 1942. The paper was smal back then; most issues were little more
than six pages long. It was easy to quickly browse ayear'sworth of newspapers. After only three
minutes he found another article on Anderson, dated April 4, 1942.

They read the account of the students’ disappearance. Sonny felt acold breeze blow over hissoul.
"Keep flipping,” Cho said. “Maybe they found them later on.”

Accounts of the missing studentswerein every issue of The' Y News, but the articles grew smaller and
smdler. Thelast article Sonny could find appeared in an issue dated May 30, 1942. It Smply said that
the students were presumed dead.

"Starting to look likeit's not avery nice place,” Cho said, hisjovidity subdued for the moment. “Maybe
we should just call it Funera Mountain.”

Sonny's mind whirred as he picked up his cup and spat some Copenhagen tobacco juiceintoit, athin
trail clinging from hiswhite beard to the cup's edge as he st it down. There were only two well
documented explorations of that area, and both times those parties turned up dead or missing. Or insane.
Sonny was beginning to think that there was areason this platinum find had gone unnoticed for well over
acentury. He was aso beginning to doubt hisinvolvement with EarthCore's project.

But he couldn't back out, not yet, not with two percent of the mine's future on theline. Sure, hehad a
million bucks, but that two percent could amount to an ungodly amount in both the near and far future.
That two percent income was the legacy he could leave his children and grandchildren, enough money to
set them dl up for their entirelives.



His contract stated that if he left the project before the mine was running and turning a profit, he would
forfeit his percentage. If he wanted that two percent, he had to see this thing through.

That could take months. Months of being on that mountain, with that clammy feding of darkness cregping
up hisgroin and tickling hisbals. He should fly to Rio right now, and have his balstickled by something
much more hospitable than that desolate, dead mountain.

It wasn't just the money. He needed to know why people kept going missing—or dead—on Funerd
Mountain. His curiosity had aways overpowered his good sense. Sometimesthat curiosity led him to
fortune, like when hefollowed up even the thinnest lead and struck pay dirt, or it led him to dead ends,
like when he spent weeks proving there was no substance to a certain lead. What happened with the
leads themsaveswas usualy incidenta. Sonny had to know the whole story, no matter how trivid it
might be.

There was moreto learn, more dark secrets buried in mildewy piles of paper and stacks of forgotten
ledgers. Thingsthat didn't want to be found, that wanted to die and fade away into the past.

Augus 9

The CH-47 C Chinook helicopter buzzed through the night sky over the Wah Wah mountains, back and
forth, back and forth, each pass another tenth of amile south. Small antennae arrays fixed to the bottom
of the helicopter fired powerful radar sgnasinto the ground and recorded their reflections.

Randy Wright sat in the Chinook's cargo bay. He watched data feed into his|aptop, data showing the
areas underground composition. The night before they'd completed the north-south lines of the grid, and
in another two hours or so they'd finish the east-west lines. It was quite an accomplishment, atwenty-five
mile grid knocked out in two night'sworth of flying.

He had a crew on the ground collecting soil and plant samplesfrom all over the area. Another crew was
preparing a series of explosves. Advanced instruments would detect reflections of the explosive shock
waves. Once they finished the radar grid, collected the data, and boxed dl of the samples, the crew
would detonate the explosives and gather the readings.

Once that was done, they'd load up the data and he'd head back to Detroit. It was a two-day
data-collection sprint, the scientific equivaent of acommando raid. With the technology at hisdisposd,
however, two dayswas dl it would take to provide Angus with everything he needed.



Chapter Eight
August 11

So what are you telling me, Sonny?’” Connell said into his cell phone as he took the Wayne Road exit off
of 1-94. “That we need to scrap the whole project because there's some bad history in the area?’

"l don't think you could classify multiple murders and missing personsassmply ‘bad history,” Connell,”
Sonny said. “I think that mountainis cursed.”

"Cursed? Oh come on, Sonny, don't tell me you're supertitious.”
"Y ou're goddamned right | am. Hell, Connell, I'm thefriggin’ definition of superdtitious.”

"So are you telling me your professiona evauation iswe need to stay off that mountain? Isthat what
you'retelling me, that we walk away from the discovery because you've got a bad vibe?'

Sonny paused amoment. “Well, | don't know if I'd go that far."

"Good, because that's not the shit | need to hear right now,” Connell said. “Y ou've given your report,
you've found prior evidence of people panning the areafor dust, so that helps vaidate our computer
models. Y ou've done agood job. Now if you want to stay off the mountain and forfeit your two percent,
| have no problem with that. Isthat what you want?'

"Of course not!"

"Good. Then | don't want to hear anymore of this crap, and I'll expect to see you on-gte.”

Sonny sighed. “Okay, Connell."

"Seeyou inacouple of days.” Connell hung up as he pulled into EarthCore's main research campus.

Four years. Had it been that long since held come to the EarthCore lab? That long since held stopped by
just to see how everyone was doing? There had been atime when he didn't et aweek go by without
stopping by the company's main [ab near Romulus, a Detroit suburb, touching base, talking to the
technicians, getting the scoop on the latest research techniques, the latest family news, the latest office
gossip. Of course, there was dso atime when he gave ashit. He got far more done staying in his office at
the Renai ssance Center, working the phone and the computer, than he ever had when he took an interest
in peopleslives.

The nondescript building in anondescript industria park in a nondescript part of town had no sgnage,
which was status quo for any EarthCore facility. From the outside, it was just another facelessbuilding in
the midst of adense industria sprawl.

No one had |eft the [ab in three days. At first Angus ordered everyone to stay, but that order rapidly
became unnecessary as the staff pieced the Stuation together. And when Randy returned from Utah with
alaptop full of data, the excitement level soared beyond measure. People dept only in snatches, and
Anguss demands pushed everyone's taents beyond naturd limits.

Angus mentioned briefly to Patrick O'Doyle that some of the scientists had families. O'Doyle made a
quick call and then assured the staff that everyone's family was taken care of. EarthCore staffers
baby-sat, cooked, cleaned, and hel ped shuffle kids to and from schooal. It didn't stop parents and



spouses from fedling guilty, but it did comfort them enough to stay in the lab and keep working around
the clock.

When Connell Kirkland arrived that morning, the lab looked asif it were staffed by zombies on crack.
Bleary-eyed people scurried everywhere, hair dirty and sticking out in al directions, lab coats wrinkled,
eyes adorned with dark bags. The only one who till looked norma was Angus Kooal.

It surprised Connell to see how much the labs had changed. New equipment lined the walls of the origina
lab, which had expanded from the origind building to two additiona buildingsin theindustrid park.

As Connell entered the room, work dowly ground to ahdt. Technicians stared at him in obvious shock.
He recognized most of them. Others, he redlized with some surprise, hed seen only as picturesin
personne files.

An Arabic man approached him, smiling widely. Connell remember the face, but couldn't place the name.

"Connell, it isso good to see you again,” the man said. He seemed to want to extend his hand, but was
unsure if that wastheright thing to do. “It has been avery long time since | have seen you.”

Achmed. His name was Achmed. Connell hadn't seen thisman since ... sSince ... Since the night Cori had
died. Achmed had been at that fateful New Y ear's Eve party. In fact, before the party, he and Cori had
gone out to dinner with Achmed and hiswife. The four of them had been friends, and Connell hadn't
spoken to the man once since that night. Connell remembered calls from Achmed, consolation cards,
supporting emails—all of which hedd ignored.

"Achmed,” Conndl said. “It hasbeen along time. How is...” Hisvoicetrailed off. He couldn't remember
her first name; he couldn't remember their last name, either.

"Ranaisfineg” Achmed said with an understanding smile. “We hope you are doing well."
"I'mfine,” Conndl said, perhapsalittle too quickly.

Achmed nodded. That same understanding smile on hislips couldn't hide the sadnessin hiseyes. “I'd
better get back to work. Angusis very demanding.” Achmed turned and walked back to his station.

O'Doyle spotted Connell, smoothed out his uniform, and quickly walked over. Connell was grateful for
the digtraction. He hadn't known O'Doyle ... before.

"How's everyone doing, O'Doyle?’

"Fine, Mr. Kirkland. People seem to be getting enough deep, but Mr. Kool isadave driver. He reminds
me of my old drill sergeant.”

"Dr. Kool is pushing them hard?"

"Nonstop,” O'Doyle said. “Nothing they do satisfieshim. He'stireess; he hasn't dept once in three days.
Normdlly I'd be concerned by that, but ook at him."

Angus stood on the other side of the large lab, obliviousto Connell. He moved like he was made of
caffeine; fatigue found no purchase on his body.

"You cdl these results?” Angus said, practicdly screaming at asmdl, black-haired woman, a sheef of
computer printouts clutched in his hands. Connell vaguely remembered her name—Katerina
something-or-other. He remembered hiring her shortly before Cori's degth. Lab workers flinched every



time Anguss arrogant, nasal voice exploded at the woman.
"| said, do you cdl these results, Katerina?'

The woman looked up fiercely, eyes on the point of tears. “1've double-checked the metallurgica
andydss,” shesad, her tonefull of defengve frustration. “It's consstent both times.”

Angus threw the report. The pages spread out like aflock of birds, then fluttered to the ground. “Well do
it again! That work isn't fit for an undergrad, for God's sake! Do it again! And makeit quick—this
repetitive work ismaking you fal behind."

"I'll bet hewinsMr. Congenidity,” Conndl said quietly.

"He picks on her themost,” O'Doyle said. “| peeked at her files. She'sgot a 156 1Q. | wonder how Dr.
Kool would treat adumb old soldier like meif | worked under him?'

"Y ou're not dumb, O'Doyle. And besides, you'd probably strangle him."
"No dgr!” ODoylesad. “I would never strangle him ... I'd use aknife."

Connell laughed, and he was allittle surprised to hear the sound escape hislips. He laughed so rardly that
it sounded strange to him. O'Doyle was adamn good employee, aman who in two brief years had
single-handedly turned EarthCore's security force from ajoke into aunit that might be mistaken for a
platoon of crack commandos. Conndll felt confident knowing that O'Doyle would be one of the firgt at
the Wah Wah site.

Conndll walked toward Angus. O'Doyletrailed astep behind. Angus saw Connell coming. Surprise, then
haughty anger, spread across hisface. He straightened hislab coat. Charlie Brown, Snoopy, and Pigpen
pins decorated hislapd.

"Well, if it isn't the king himsdlf,” Angus said. “Coming down to watch your lowly serfstoil?"

Connell gtared at Angus, and wondered how anyone could work with this man and not punch himin the
face.

"Dr. Kool, | hope you've got something for me other than asurly atitude.”

Angus nodded, hiswild red hair bobbing in time with the motion. “Randy Wright collected fascinating
datafrom the Wah Wah ste. We discovered one rather large anomaly of extremely dense materia three
miles underground. What is odd, however, isthat we found none of the usud indicators of alarge
platinum deposit. With dust on the surface, such asMr. McGuiness found, | expected to see some
biogeochemica evidence of adeposit. The roots of some trees and plants gather elements from the
ground and transmit them to the leaves. Juniper bushes, for example, which are common at the Wah Wah
Ste, can send roots asfar as a hundred and sixty feet below the surface.”

"So you're saying you found nothing there?” Connell asked.

"Nothing,” Angus said. “No biogeochemica evidence of anything but iron, let done platinum or any other
vauable minera. And that corresponds with our other surveysthat show no metallogenic evidence of a

deposit.”
"Metdlogenic?'

"Various mineralsin agiven area can revea probable locations of undiscovered deposits,” Angus said.



“Weve found absolutely no e emen